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The Friends of the Southwest Museum Coalition (Friends) have asked me to
prepare a report addressing certain financial issues raised by the 2003 merger between the
Autry Museum of Western Heritage and the Southwest Museum.

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The following discussion summarizes the relevant facts and conclusions reached
in the remainder of this report.

A. FACTS. There are three key players in the story that follows. The first is the
Southwest Museum, an independent entity until a May 2003 merger. The second is the
Autry Museum of Western Heritage, also a separate legal entity until the May 2003
merger. The third is the Autry Foundation, a private foundation headed by Mrs. Jackie
Autry, which exercises significant control over the Autry Museum of Western Heritage.
Following the May 2003 merger, the Southwest Museum’s legal existence ended, with its
operations and assets becoming part of and its liabilities being assumed by the Autry
Museum of Western Heritage. As part of the merger transaction, the Autry Museum of
Western Heritage changed its name to the Autry National Center of the American West.
Throughout this report, the Autry Museum of Western Heritage and the Autry National
Center of the American West will be referred to as the Autry Museum (unless clarity
requires otherwise).

As part of the merger agreement (Merger Agreement), the Autry Museum
represented that an attached balance sheet (2002 Merger Balance Sheet; Exhibit A)
presented fairly, in all material respects, its assets and liabilities in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).! There is no specific reference to an

! Agreement and Plan of Merger between the Autry Western Heritage Museum and the Southwest Museum
dated March 4, 2003, Section 8(c).
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Autry Foundation pledge in the Merger Agreement, but the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet
does report $98,178,777 in current receivables as of December 31, 2002.

The 2000 Form 990-PF filed with the Internal Revenue Service by the Autry
Museum listed pledges having both book and fair market values of $97,840,178 (Exhibit
B). That same return reported elsewhere that the Autry Foundation made a $97,222,712
pledge (Pledge)? to the Autry Museum on December 31, 2000 (Exhibit C).> Publicly
available tax returns filed by the Autry Museum continue to report outstanding pledge
balances as exceeding $97 million.* This strongly suggests the bulk of the $98 million in
receivables reflected on the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet included the Pledge.

No other facts were known by the Friends about the terms of the Pledge until
recently, when the Friends obtained financial statements for the Autry Museum for the
periods ending December 31, 2006 (Exhibit D), December 31, 2005 (Exhibit E) and
December 31, 2000 (Exhibit F). The 2006 and 2005 financial statements were obtained
from the Autry Museum by the Friends. The 2000 financial statements were discovered
in the California Attorney General’s public records. The 2000 statements were
incomplete (no footnotes).

The 2006, 2005, and 2000 financial statements each treat the Pledge differently
than the Pledge was treated on the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet. In fact, the Pledge
actually is comprised of what the footnotes to the 2006 and 2005 financial statements
refer to as three related-party pledges (Pledges).” Those Pledges constituted 94% of all
pledges and grants receivable on the 2006 balance sheet and 96% of all pledges and
grants receivable on the 2005 balance sheet. ®

Based on available evidence, Mrs. Autry is most likely the source that will fund
the Pledges, although a portion of the funding may first pass through the Autry
Foundation, which appears to be serving as a conduit between Mrs. Autry and the Autry

2 The Friends were unaware of the reference to the Pledge on the Autry Museum’s 2000 Form 990-PF until
| discovered the Form 990-PF on the California Attorney General’s Web site. This is not to suggest that |
did anything particularly special, but rather to illustrate the mystery that surrounded and, to some degree,
still surrounds the Pledge.

® Note 5 to the Autry Museum financial statements for the years ending December 31, 2006 and December
31, 2005 report that the Pledge was made on March 24, 2000.

* The Autry Museum’s 2006, 2005, 2004, and 2003 Forms 990 report outstanding balances of
$100,984,778, $100,588,764, $99,504,332, and $97,693,275, respectively, as the outstanding balance for
pledges receivable.

> Note 5 to the Autry Museum financial statements for the years ending December 31, 2006 and December
31, 2005.

® Interestingly, Note 2 to the Autry Museum’s 2006 financial statements indicates that related party
receivables equal approximately 96% of net pledges receivable. | derived my number by dividing
$97,120,523 (Note 5) by $103,312,211 (Note 3).



Financial Issues Pertaining to the 2003 Merger Page 3 of 27
March 6, 2008

Museum.® For purposes of this report, Mrs. Autry will be assumed to be the initial
funding source for the Pledge.

Both the 2006 and 2005 Autry Museum financial statements indicate that a
significant portion of the Pledges are payable upon the death of Mrs. Autry.® At the time
of the merger between the Autry Museum and the Southwest Museum, Mrs. Autry had a
life expectancy of 24.4 years, as determined under Internal Revenue Service life
expectancy tables'® (Exhibit G). As noted, the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet assigned a
book value to the receivables (which included the Pledges) of $98 million, with the entire
amount classified as a current asset. It contained no footnotes or explanation regarding
the Pledges.

B. ConcLuslioNs. Subject to the full report, I have reached the following
conclusions:

1. Section 8(c) of the Merger Agreement required that the 2002 Merger Balance
Sheet present fairly, in all material respects, the assets of the Autry Museum in
accordance with GAAP. Given the terms of the Pledges, the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet
did not present fairly, in all material respects, the Pledges because it treated all of them as
current assets without any further disclosures.

2. The 2002 Merger Balance Sheet was not prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Paragraph 24 of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 116 requires that
the recipients of unconditional promises to give disclose “the amounts of promises

8 See Note 2 to the Autry Museum financial statements for 2006, which provides:

Pledges receivable and accounts receivable are uncollateralized and the Center is at
risk to the extent such amounts become uncollectible. Additionally, approximately
96% of net pledges receivable are due from one individual and a related foundation
and the Center is subject to credit risk in the event of nonperformance by such parties.

° Note 5 to the Autry Museum financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2006 provides:

The annual contributions will continue until the donor’s passing and the long-term
capital contribution will be received upon the donor’s passing.

The same language appears in Note 5 to the Autry Museum financial statements for the year ending
December 31, 2005.

19 Treasury Regulation Section 1.401(a)(9)-9. Mrs. Autry was born on October 2, 1941. It probably would
be preferable to use the tables used to value assets for purposes of the federal estate and gift tax, if they
differ. However, those tables do not clearly state life expectancies for a given age. See IRS Publications
1457 (Book Aleph), 1458 (Book Beth), and 1459 (Book Gimel). 1 did review the tables published by the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and tables published by the Centers for Disease Control
and Prevention. See Elizabeth Arias, United States Life Tables, 2003, 54 NATIONAL VITAL STATISTICS
RepoRrTs (April 19, 2006). The life expectancy for a 60-year old person is 22.2 years. In other words,
there may be slight variations between the different tables, but these are unlikely to be material for present
purposes.

! Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement No. 116—Accounting for Contributions Received and
Contributions Made, June 2003, at Paragraph 24, p 9.
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receivable in less than one year, in one to five years, and in more than five years.” The
2002 Merger Balance Sheet did not disclose this information. The balance sheets for the
years ending December 31, 2006 (Exhibit D), December 31, 2005 (Exhibit E), and
December 31, 2000 (Exhibit F) provide information regarding due dates.

3. The 2002 Merger Balance Sheet was misleading®? in its representation of the
Autry Museum’s financial condition because it omitted material information regarding
the Pledges. Anyone who doubts this need only ask the following question: Would you
rather have $100 million today or in 24.4 years? To ask this question is to answer it."?

4. The merger between the Autry Museum and the Southwest Museum has been
consistently characterized as a merger between a cash-rich institution (Autry Museum)
and a financially strapped museum with a priceless collection (Southwest Museum). The
Autry Museum’s alleged financial superiority to the Southwest Museum largely
disappears when the Pledges are excluded from the analysis because unpaid pledges are
not cash in hand, but merely promises to pay sums at a future date. The portion of the
Pledges that is best characterized as a $6.050 million annual annuity appears to have kept
the pre-merger operations of the Autry Museum from having produced larger deficits or
smaller surpluses.* In other words, without the portion of the Pledges that is
characterized as a $100 million long-term capital contribution, the Autry Museum is in no
position (based on financial resources reflected in its 2005 and 2006 balance sheets) to
make the needed repairs to the Southwest Museum’s facilities, significantly increase its
endowment, and expand its own facilities in Griffith Park. To summarize: The Autry
Museum was not in much better financial condition than the Southwest Museum once the

12 \When | use the term “misleading” in this report, | am not suggesting or implying evil intent on the part of
those who compiled the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet or made the related representation. Something either
is or is not misleading. The misleading aspect of the statement can be inadvertent, with no one even
realizing that others may interpret the statement differently, or it can be intentionally misleading. Only
those who compiled the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet or made the related representation know what their
intentions were in doing so.

3 The notes to the financial statements specifically acknowledge credit risk. See Note 2 to the 2006 and
2005 Autry Museum financial statements.

4 The merger makes it difficult to now isolate the Southwest Museum’s operations, as carried on by the
combined entity, from the Autry Museum’s pre-merger operations. Undoubtedly the Autry Museum is
incurring additional expenses because of its efforts to conserve the Southwest Museum’s rare collection of
North American artifacts. However, the Mount Washington galleries are currently closed to the public,
presumably resulting in significant reduction in expenses. Although the Autry Museum is renovating some
portions of the Mount Washington facility, some, if not all of that expense has been covered by government
grants. The Executive Summary to the Draft Environmental Impact Report submitted by the Autry
Museum to the Los Angeles Department of Recreation & Parks (available at
http://www.laparks.org/environmental/autry3.htm) states:

In December 2005, the Autry National Center secured nearly $1 million in state
funding from the California Culture and Historical Endowment to undertake building
and rehabilitation projects including waterproofing, electrical upgrades, and
mechanical upgrades. The Autry National Center also secured a FEMA grant to
enable long-overdue repair and stabilization of the Caracol Tower due to damage
sustained in the Northridge Earthquake.
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Pledge is removed from the analysis. Ignoring the Pledge is appropriate given the fact
that a significant portion of it will not be converted into cash for some two decades when
actuarial tables are taken into account.

5. The mischaracterization®® of the Pledges as current assets on the 2002 Merger
Balance Sheet had ramifications that went far beyond pure financial matters.
Specifically,

a. If the Southwest Museum’s board of directors did not understand the deferred
nature of the payments under the Pledges, it could not make a considered decision
regarding the merger’s merits.

b. If the community groups that initially opposed the merger had fully understood
the deferred nature of payments under the Pledges, they may have continued to oppose
the merger out of concern that the Autry Museum did not intend to renovate and restore
the Southwest Museum’s Mount Washington facility.

c. Although California law apparently did not require that the California Attorney
General formally review and approve the merger before the parties could proceed, there
is evidence of an informal review process. Given the California Attorney General’s basic
role in assuring that charitable assets are protected and donor restrictions are honored, the
California Attorney General may well have had serious concerns regarding the ability of
the Autry Museum to protect assets and honor restrictions without the full $98 million of
cash, represented by the current receivables shown on the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet,
that would have been expected to have been in hand within a relatively short period of
time.

d. As of December 31, 2006, the philanthropic community had not responded to
the Autry Museum “seed” money by providing the additional $100 million in funding
anticipated by Section 13(h) of the Merger Agreement.™ | can only speculate, but the
lackluster response by the philanthropic community suggests that some people may not
understand the deferred nature of the $100 million contribution. They may be asking
why provide additional funding if the Autry Museum already has significant resources.
Other members of the philanthropic community may understand the deferred nature of
the $100 million long-term capital contribution. They may be telling Mrs. Autry and the
Autry Foundation to accelerate payments under the Pledge before they are willing to
commit additional capital.

15 See note 12, supra.
16 Section 13(h) of the Merger Agreement provides as follows:

The Center shall launch an endowment and capital campaign in 2004 with a goal of
raising at least $100,000,000, subject to the studies to be undertaken pursuant to the
Master Plan referred to in Section 13(i) below)][sic].
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Once again, | can only speculate, but the lackluster response from the
philanthropic community may have necessitated the 2006 “promise from a related party”
to make a $25 million payment to be added to the Autry Museum’s restricted
endowment.*” This conditional promise is disclosed in Note 2 to the Autry Museum
financial statements, but is not reflected in the income statement or balance sheet
numbers because “the related party had not signed off on the satisfaction of the
conditions” as of December 31, 2006."® Presumably this related party is Mrs. Autry or
the Autry Foundation. The need for this promise and the funds it represents could be
viewed as further evidence that the Autry Museum was not adequately capitalized
following the merger with the Southwest Museum. If that hypothesis is correct, it would
be support for the conclusion that the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet was misleading.*

6. During the last five years, there have been demands by members of the United
States Congress, state regulators, grantmakers, donors, and watchdog groups for far
greater transparency in the nonprofit sector. The Internal Revenue Service is now in the
process of completely overhauling the Form 990 tax return used by tax-exempt entities.
Although the Form 990 is a tax return, it is also a disclosure document, relied upon by
state regulators, donors, and the media, among others.”® A significant part of the Internal
Revenue Service’s efforts have been devoted to increasing transparency through
expansion and revision to the Form 990.

Despite the widespread benefits from increased transparency, the Autry Museum
still chooses to keep the Pledge, its terms, and the circumstances surrounding it shrouded
in mystery. The financial statements don’t identify who is behind the Pledge, other than
referring to “related parties.” The exact terms of the Pledge are still largely unknown and
some of the accounting for the Pledge remains anything but transparent.

17 See Note 2 to the 2006 Autry Museum financial statements.
¥ 1d.
19 See note 12, supra.

2% The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1987 (“OBRA 1987") greatly expanded public access to the
Form 990 by requiring charities to make their Form 990s available to the public on request rather than
requiring the public to obtain the forms from the Internal Revenue Service. The legislative history to
OBRA 1987 is clear in expressing congressional intent that the Form 990 be used by both the Internal
Revenue Service in administering the tax laws and the public in assuring accountability.

Specifically, House Report 100-391 (1987) provides:

For example, the present-law disclosure procedure does not result in full and timely
public disclosure of the activities of charitable organizations, as needed to facilitate
accountability of such organizations to the public from whom they solicit tax-
deductible funds. . . . In the case of charitable organizations, the committee believes
that increased availability of information will help assure that the double tax benefits
of deductibility of contributions and exemption from income tax are limited to
organizations whose assets are devoted exclusively to charitable purposes, as required
by the tax law. Also, because most such charities regularly solicit contributions or
receive other support from the public, the public should have ready access to current
information about the activities of these organizations...
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Looking forward, the City of Los Angeles Department of Recreation and Parks
and the City Council will soon be faced with a decision as to whether to approve the
Autry Museum’s proposal to expand the building on its Griffith Park campus, as
described in documents submitted by the Autry Museum as part of an environmental
impact report required by the California Environmental Quality Act.** The department
and the City Council must certainly be interested in the Autry Museum’s financial
capacity to implement the project described in the proposal. Yet, now the department and
City Council are the latest groups to be faced with the lack of transparency surrounding
the Pledge and how the Pledge changes perceptions of the Autry Museum’s financial
wherewithal. It is hard to imagine these officials making an informed decision to
approve the expansion proposal and commit scarce public resources without a complete
understanding of the Pledge and the museum’s finances, particularly when in the past
those public resources have taken the form of park land that the Autry Museum has used
at no cost.??

The Southwest Museum’s board of directors, the community groups who initially
opposed the merger, the California Attorney General, the Los Angeles Department of
Recreation and Parks and other officials involved in the public review and approval
process for the proposed expansion, and the philanthropic community all share one thing
in common: Given each of their objectives, none of these participants should like the
deferred nature of the $100 million capital contribution, particularly given the fact that its
actuarially determined payment date is two decades away.

Il. SCOPE OF THE ENGAGEMENT

The Friends have asked me to prepare an analysis and report based on a set of
documents that they provided to me (Exhibit H). As agreed, | am not rendering legal
advice or a legal opinion. The Friends are already represented by counsel, including the
attorney who directed my work. Nor am | rendering any audit, attestation, or certification
services.

Due to budgetary constraints, the Friends asked me to limit my review to the
documents that they provided to me. However, they did permit me to review any
documents that | found on the Web—these largely consisted of media accounts, tax
returns, and information on the Autry Museum’s Web site. There are many relevant
documents that are not publicly available or that the Friends were unable to provide me.
The Friends have acknowledged that more complete information or a more extended
review could change my conclusions. In order to preserve the confidentiality of the

21 The Autry Museum provides a link to the Los Angeles Department of Parks and Recreation Web site and
the draft report. The link is available at http://www.autry-museum.org/anewplan/news.html.

22 The Friends have informed me that the Autry Museum currently occupies a 10-acre parcel of Griffith
Park under a 50-year land lease for One Dollar per year. In Note 7 to its 2006 financial statements, the
Autry Museum values this public subsidy at $10.2 million. The Friends have informed me that Autry may
seek as much as a 30-year extension of the land lease.
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preparation of this report, the Friends prohibited me from contacting third parties, such as
Autry Museum officials.

I1l. QUALIFICATIONS

I am both an attorney (lllinois and Wisconsin) and a CPA (Wisconsin). | hold an
LLM (Tax) from New York University and a Masters of Management (MBA-equivalent)
from Northwestern University’s Kellogg Graduate School of Management. | am the
author of A DESKTOP GUIDE FOR NONPROFIT DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, AND ADVISORS:
AVOIDING TROUBLE WHILE DoING GoobD (Wiley 2006), which addresses a wide variety
of management, legal, accounting, financial, and regulatory issues from the perspective
of the board of directors and its governance of the organization. | have previously
practiced law and have also developed computer-based training for lawyers, accountants,
financial professionals, and nonprofit directors though my own company. | have most
recently been engaged in training activities involving nonprofit organizations and the
related development of a consulting practice.”® My latest article, Applying Fin 48 to Tax-
Exempt Organizations: Too Much of Nothing or It’s All Too Much?, was published in the
May 2007 issue of the Exempt Organization Tax Review. The article focuses on a
controversial interpretation of accounting principles issued by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB).

IV. CONTEXT

On March 4, 2003, the Autry Museum of Western Heritage (Autry Museum) and
the Southwest Museum, both California non-profit corporations, entered into the Merger
Agreement.?* Under that agreement, the Southwest Museum merged into the Autry
Museum, with the Southwest Museum’s separate corporate existence disappearing. The
surviving entity is known as the Autry National Center for the American West. The
parties to the merger intended that the Southwest Museum’s separate identity as a
museum be maintained following the merger,?® with reasonable efforts being taken to
maintain the Mount Washington facility.”® Media reports reflect those intentions.’

2% | can be contacted at 773.325.2124, or by e-mail at jbsiegel@charitygovernance.com.

* The merger apparently was finalized May 27, 2003. Autry Western Heritage Museum, 2003 Form 990,
Statement 1. However, the 2002 Form 990 for the Southwest Museum reports the date as May 31, 2003.

2 Agreement and Plan of Merger between the Autry Western Heritage Museum and the Southwest
Museum, dated March 4, 2003, Section 12(b).

% Mount Washington Homeowners Alliance, Letter to the Board of Directors of the Autry National Center,
May 16, 2005.

27 Christopher Reynolds, Autry and Southwest Museums Seal a Deal, L.A. TIMES, Mar. 14, 2003. Mr.
Reynolds wrote:

In disclosing their decision Thursday, Autry leaders stopped short of making
guarantees about the fate of the Southwest's longtime home on Mount Washington.
But the facility will remain open for the foreseeable future, and in meetings and
correspondence with neighborhood activists, they have pledged their best efforts not
only to preserve the historic buildings there but keep them open to the public, ideally
as a venue for temporary exhibitions.
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The Friends and the Autry Museum engaged in a lengthy mediation process
instigated at the City of Los Angeles’ behest. The Friends are concerned that the Autry
Museum has abandoned its original intentions and commitments with respect to the
Southwest Museum and its Mount Washington facility. Specifically, the Friends believe
that the Autry Museum now plans to permanently terminate the entire use of the Mount
Washington facility as a museum, either converting it to some other use or selling it.® In
March 2006, just three years after the merger, the Autry Museum announced that it was
effectively closing the Mount Washington facility.”” The announcement refers to new
cultural uses for the facility, putting into question the Autry Museum’s plans to continue
to use the Mount Washington facility as a museum.

As of the date of this report, the Autry Museum’s Web site is ambiguous
regarding the Mount Washington facility’s future. The Web site refers to infrastructure
improvements to the Southwest Museum that are to be completed by 2010, but states that
the goal is to “mov[e] most of the collection to a new state-of-the-art home by 2009.”
That state-of-the-art home is to be part of the Autry Museum’s expanded “Griffith Park
campus.”** Despite the earlier reference to “new cultural uses,” a newsletter on the Autry
Museum’s Web site indicates that two galleries in the Mount Washington facility will
“open with exhibitions of Native American artifacts.”*? This ambiguity is disturbing
given the unambiguous requirement in Section 13(f) of the Merger Agreement that,

the identity and integrity of the Southwest Museum will be maintained
as part of the Center and the Southwest staff will establish their
museum’s interpretative agenda creating permanent and temporary
exhibitions for presentation in its galleries.

V. ANALYSIS
The merger between the Autry Museum and the Southwest Museum has been
consistently characterized as a merger between a cash-rich institution (Autry Museum)

To cover costs of the merger, Autry officials say they plan to raise $100 million over
the next five years, including $38 million to boost the center's endowment and an
estimated $15 million to restore and renovate the Southwest buildings.

%8 press Release, Autry National Center, Update, Apr. 25, 2006; and Letter to the Board of Directors, note
26, supra. An article appearing in the Los Angeles Times reports that the Autry Museum is looking for
funds for new exhibition space at the Southwest site, but the press release from the Autry Museum
specifically refers to a “new cultural use.” See Christopher Reynolds, Southwest Faces Major Repair Job,
L.A. TIMES, Mar. 21, 2006.

#Southwest Faces Major Repair Job, note 28, supra. See also Peter Prengaman, Indian Museum Closes
Amid Controversy, Artifacts to be Transferred to Autry, ASSOCIATED PRESS, June 29, 2006.

% Welcome Page for the Southwest Museum of the American Indian available at
http://www.autrynationalcenter.org/southwest/.

d.

%2 Southwest Museum of the American Indian—Celebrating 100 Years, available at
http://www.autrynationalcenter.org/pdfs/SWM_Newsletter web-4pages.pdf
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and a financially strapped museum with a priceless® collection (Southwest Museum).
That public perception is evident in the first paragraph of a Los Angeles Times article
reporting:

The Autry Museum of Western Heritage—a young, wealthy institution
created by a singing movie cowboy to explore western myth-making
along with history—will consummate a two-year on-again, off-again
courtship by merging with the cash-strapped, collection-rich Southwest
Museum.
The article then goes on to describe the “Autry’s $100-million endowment.”*®
This characterization of the $100 million number is inconsistent with the facts. Of
course, the reporter did not review the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet because his article
was written prior to the consummation of the merger when the parties provided each
other balance sheets pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement. Nevertheless, the
balance sheet certainly leads to and supports that mistaken conclusion by various
reporters. Of more immediate relevance, the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet may reflect
how Autry Museum officials characterized the receivables when talking with third parties
such as citizen and community groups, politicians, the media, and the California Attorney
General. The New York Times has also covered the merger, arriving at a similar
characterization.®

These press accounts did not accurately portray the relative financial positions of
the two museums. Although the Autry Museum may have had a $6.050 million annual
annuity for the foreseeable future, it did not have anywhere close to the $98 million in

# Southwest Museum, Narrative Summary of the Collection, an undated document provided to me by the
Friends.

% Christopher Reynolds, A Union of Cowboys and Indians, L.A. TIMES, Dec. 11, 2002.
% Ten days later, in an editorial, the L.A. Times wrote:

Coming together to be stronger is also the driving idea behind the merger of the
Autry, with its $100-million endowment and its financial discipline, and the venerable
but fiscally broken Southwest Museum.

Editorial, Now the West is One, L.A. TIMES, Dec. 12, 2002.

% Edward Wyatt, As an Indian Museum Packs for a Move, Grumbling is Heard, N.Y. TIMES, June 28,
2006; and James Sterngold, New Travails for a Struggling California Museum, N.Y. TIMES, May 26, 2002.
In contrasting the pre-merger Autry and Southwest Museums, Mr. Wyatt, wrote:

The Autry museum, opened in 1988 by the Autry family, was backed by a large
fortune but had a collection that tended toward movie memorabilia and less
distinguished Western paintings....

The Southwest, by contrast, suffered from a small endowment and declines in
membership and visitors. But since its founding by Charles Lummis, an explorer and
collector, it had built an extensive collection of Indian artifacts, including 13,500
Indian baskets, perhaps the largest such holding in existence, as well as thousands of
objects, ranging from the sacred -- including human remains -- to the mundane.
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unrestricted current receivables that the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet indicated that it had.
In fact, the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet is both misleading®” and noncompliant with
GAAP.

A. THE TERMS OF THE PLEDGES. The 2006, 2005 and 2000 financial statements
provide additional information about the Pledges. Specifically, Note 5 to both the 2006
and 2005 financial statements describe the terms of the Pledges. On March 24, 2000,*
the Autry Museum received a pledge for an annual contribution totaling $6 million. It
also received what is described as a long-term capital contribution of $100 million. On
May 16, 2002, the Autry Museum received a third pledge for a $50,000 annual
contribution. Upon the death of the donor, the donor’s obligation to make the annual $6
million and $50,000 payments terminates. At that time, the $100 million pledge (referred
to as a capital contribution) comes due.

The Friends have always assumed that the donor is Gene Autry’s widow, Jackie
Autry. An October 11, 2000 article in the Los Angeles Times more than justifies that
assumption, reporting:

Gene Autry's widow, Jackie Autry, has established a $100-million
endowment for Griffith Park's Autry Museum of Western Heritage. The
gift will help make the museum "a more public and self-supporting
institution,"” said Autry, who is board chairman of the institution named
in her husband's honor.**

The 2006 and 2005 Autry Museum financial statements, however, only refer to a “related
party,” with no specific name provided.*°

It is still impossible to say whether there has been an outright pledge to the Autry
Foundation by Mrs. Autry, whether there is an irrevocable trust that designates the Autry
Foundation as its beneficiary, or whether some other estate-planning device will be used
to fund the $100 million so-called capital contribution that becomes due when Mrs. Autry
dies. Further adding to the confusion is evidence that a significant portion of the $6
million and $50,000 annual payments are being made directly to the Autry Museum by
Mrs. Autry, rather than to the Autry Foundation as a conduit between Mrs. Autry and the
Autry Museum.** There should be concern if the so-called $100 million capital

%" See note 12, supra.

% As noted in the text accompanying note 3, supra, the Autry Museum’s 2000 Form 990-PF reports that
the Pledge was made on December 31, 2000.

% Shauna Snow, Arts and Entertainment Reports from the Times, L.A. TIMES, Oct. 11, 2000.
%% See Note 5 to the 2006 and 2005 Autry Museum financial statements.

* The five most recently available tax returns for the Autry Foundation report the following contributions
to the Autry Museum (i) 2005—$1,003,500; (ii) 2004—$503,425; (iii) 2003—$1,503,810; (iv) 2002—
$1,001,397; and (v) 2001—$922,221. Each of these amounts fall far short of the $6.050 million annual
obligation under the Pledges, meaning that someone else is likely satisfying a significant portion of the



Financial Issues Pertaining to the 2003 Merger Page 12 of 27
March 6, 2008

contribution is embodied in Mrs. Autry’s will because wills can be changed. However,
that seems unlikely given the fact the Autry Museum has consistently treated all the
Pledges for accounting purposes as unconditional promises to give rather than conditional
ones.*” The point: Neither the Friends, nor the general public knew the exact terms of
the Pledges at the time of merger despite the fact that the Pledges were the primary basis
for it. Now the Los Angeles Department of Recreation and Parks and the City Council
are reviewing a proposal for a major expansion of the Autry Museum’s Griffith Park
facility. The Autry Museum may have provided the department and the City Council
with additional information, but that is not a certainty. If the department and City
Council have not received additional information, both are presumably relying on the
financial statements and tax returns referred to in this report to assess the Autry
Museum’s financial capacity to carry through on the proposed expansion. In that case,
the department and the City Council both would be faced with incomplete and less than
transparent disclosures regarding the Pledge, just as | and members of the public are.

$6.050 million annual obligation under the Pledges. The Autry Foundation’s 2006 Form 990 return was not
available through GuideStar as of the date of this report.

Somewhat surprisingly, the 2006 Form 990 for the Autry Museum that the Friends supplied to me
included Schedule B, with the donor names displayed. It reports a $5,328,650 contribution from Mrs.
Autry to the Autry Museum, but shows no contribution from the Autry Foundation to the Autry Museum.
Under the Schedule B reporting requirements, it is possible that the Autry Foundation made a contribution
to the Autry Museum during 2006, but that such contribution was not large enough to require that it be
separately reported on Schedule B.

Schedule B to the Autry Museum’s 2005 Form 990 reports a $1,003,500 contribution from the
Autry Foundation, which is consistent with the contribution reported by the Autry Foundation on its 2005
Form 990.

“2 The Autry Museum’s treatment of the Pledge is inconsistent with the treatment that would be required if
the Pledge were made pursuant to Mrs. Autry’s will. Example 16 in Appendix C to FASB No. 116 provides
as follows:

207. In 19XO0, Individual R notifies Church S that she has remembered the church in
her will and provides a written copy of the will. In 19X5, Individual R dies. In 19X86,
Individual R's last will and testament enters probate and the probate court declares the
will valid. The executor informs Church S that the will has been declared valid and
that it will receive 10 percent of Individual R's estate, after satisfying the estate's
liabilities and certain specific bequests. The executor provides an estimate of the
estate's assets and liabilities and the expected amount and time for payment of Church
S's interest in the estate.

208. The 19X0 communication between Individual R and Church S specified an
intention to give. The ability to modify a will at any time prior to death is well
established; thus in 19X0 Church S did not receive a promise to give and did not
recognize a contribution received. When the probate court declares the will valid,
Church S would recognize a receivable and revenue for an unconditional promise to
give at the fair value of its interest in the estate (paragraphs 8 and 19-21). If the
promise to give contained in the valid will was instead conditioned on a future and
uncertain event, Church S would recognize the contribution when the condition was
substantially met. A conditional promise in a valid will would be disclosed in notes to
financial statements (paragraph 25).
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B. THREE DIFFERENT APPROACHES TO REPORTING THE PLEDGES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENT PURPOSES. The Autry Museum has not adopted one consistent
approach to reporting the Pledges on its balance sheet. Instead, each set of financial
statements*® I have reviewed has taken its own unique approach.

1. 2002 MERGER AGREEMENT BALANCE SHEET. The 2002 Merger Balance
Sheet characterized the Pledges as current assets.** It contained no other information
with respect to the Pledges. The Autry Foundation’s identity as the primary donor was
only revealed through my review of the Autry Museum’s 2000 Form 990-PF.* That
raises additional questions because the size of the Pledges far exceeded the Autry
Foundation’s then current financial assets (as reported on its Form 990-PF).*®

** For these purposes, | am treating the 2006 and 2005 financial statements as one set of statements,
because the Autry Museum appears to have settled on a template for purposes of producing annual
financial statements that are audited and now available to the public as a consequence of recently mandated
disclosure requirements by the State of California.

* Even then, it does not characterize the Pledges as pledges, but rather, as receivables.

*® For some reason, the Autry Museum filed two tax returns for its 2000 calendar year. Statement 1 to its
2000 Form 990-PF lists a contribution of $97,222,712 contribution from the Autry Foundation.

In an effort to learn more about the Pledges, | reviewed the Forms 990-PF for the Autry
Foundation. Part Il of the Forms 990-PF for 2005, 2004, and 2003 (Exhibit 1) report no liabilities. Part I
of the 2002 and 2001 Forms 990-PF reports $14,348 in liabilities. For 2000, Part Il reports $26,619 in
liabilities. If this were a financial statement prepared in accordance with GAAP, the Pledges would be
recorded as liabilities. FASB No. 116, note 11, supra, mandates parallel treatment by the pledgor and the
pledgee. Specifically, Paragraph 18 of FASB No. 116 provides:

Contributions made shall be recognized as expenses in the period made and as
decreases of assets or increases of liabilities depending on the form of the benefits
given. For example, . . .unconditional promises to give cash are recognized as
payables and contribution expenses.

Although discussions of FASB No. 116 generally focus on how the charity that receives a pledge is to
account for it, the title (Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made) refers to not only
contributions received, but also to contributions made. Moreover, the opening summary to FASB No. 116
provides:

Generally, contributions received, including unconditional promises to give, are
recognized as revenues in the period received at their fair values. Contributions made,
including unconditional promises to give, are recognized as expenses in the period
made at their fair values.

It simply is not clear why the Autry Foundation did not report the Pledge as a liability in Part 11 to its Forms
990-PF. Given the asset balances, as described in note 46, infra, the Autry Foundation would have shown a
significant negative net worth on Part 1 to its Forms 990-PF for the years in question if just the liability
side of the pledge were reflected in the balance sheets. If, as | have raised as a possibility elsewhere in this
report, Mrs. Autry made a corresponding pledge to the Autry Foundation, an offsetting asset would be
created in the asset portion of Part |1, assuming the pledge was not just a non-binding statement of
intention.

*® The Autry Foundation’s 2000 Form 990-PF reports gross assets having a fair market value of $18.69
million on Line 16, Column C. Its 2004 Form 990-PF reported $17.36 million in gross asset value (Line
16, Column C). That is a long way from the amounts due under the Pledges. Assuming the Autry
Foundation could obtain a 10% annual compound return, it would take at least 19 years to increase the
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2. 2006/2005 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. The Autry Museum’s 2006 and 2005
financial statements show a current book value for the Pledges of $103,312,211 and
$100,950,645, respectively. Note 3 to the 2006 financial statements breaks all the
pledges (including the Pledges) into three time-based component parts: (i) $8,661,981
due in less than one year; (ii) $26,581,651 due in one to five years; and (iii) $187,240,000
due in more than five years. The aggregate book value of the Pledges is reduced by a
discount factor equal to $119,171,421, as described in Note 5 to the 2006 financial
statements. Note 5 provides additional information regarding the Pledges, stating that the
$119 million discount was determined by present valuing the future payments using an
appropriate discount rate and taking into account Mrs. Autry’s (referred to in Note 5 to
the financial statements as the “related party”) life expectancy under Internal Revenue
Service tables.

3. 2000 AUTRY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. In 2002, the Autry Museum gave
notice to the California Attorney General of a merger between the Autry Museum and
Women of the West Museum (based in Boulder, Colorado). The Autry Museum
submitted its 2000 financial statements to the California Attorney General, as part of the
process.*” Those statements took still a different approach to reporting the Pledges.*®
The balance sheet reported a portion ($6,470,279) of the Pledges as a current asset, and
the remaining $91,369,899 as an asset outside of the current asset category.*’

C. THE 2002 MERGER BALANCE SHEET DOES NOT CoMPLY WITH GAAP. For
over three decades, the FASB has been the organization charged with formulating GAAP.
Its Statement No. 116 prescribes the proper accounting treatment for pledges. Paragraph
110 of that statement is quite clear in setting out the overarching considerations in
reporting pledges for purposes of balance sheet presentation, stating:

The Board concluded that donors and other users need information
about promises to give to make informed decisions about allocation of

Autry Foundation’s asset value to a point where it could pay the Pledge. (Exhibit J). That unrealistically
assumes no further expenditures. According to a study undertaken by Ibbotson Associates, the S & P 500
stock index returned an 11% annual return between 1926 and 2000. Of course, there is no reason for
concern if there is an irrevocable trust or other estate-planning vehicle that will provide the Autry
Foundation with sufficient assets to meet its obligation under the Pledges. But even if that is the case, was
it appropriate for the Autry Museum to represent to its merger partner $98 million in current receivables
when, in fact, a significant portion of the underlying value of those receivables would not be converted to
spendable cash for at least two decades (as determined on an actuarial basis)?

*" The Autry Museum appears to have submitted incomplete financial statements. The Friends reviewed
the 2000 financial statements when it reviewed the files in the California Attorney General’s office.
According to a representative of the Friends, those statements did not include footnotes.

“8 At that time, Mrs. Autry had not yet made the pledge for the $50,000 annual payment to support a
curator.

“® It is possible that these amounts include other pledges, but I suspect that the bulk of these amounts is
attributable to the Pledges.



Financial Issues Pertaining to the 2003 Merger Page 15 of 27
March 6, 2008

resources to not-for-profit organizations and the information must
report promises as faithfully as possible without coloring the image it
communicates for the purpose of influencing behavior in any particular
direction.®

[italics added]

Taking those considerations into account, FASB No. 116 requires that pledges be booked
as current period revenue and as assets on the books of the charity.”* Paragraph 20 of
FASB No. 116 requires the use of a discount rate “commensurate with the risks
involved,” supporting the approach apparently taken in valuing the Pledges for purposes
of inclusion in the 2006, 2005, 2002, and 2000 balance sheets. However, FASB No. 116
clearly mandates additional disclosure, providing:

Recipients of unconditional promises to give shall disclose the
following:

a. The amounts of promises receivable in less than one year, in
one to five years, and in more than five years;

b. The amount of the allowance for uncollectible promises
receivable.

Note 3 to the Autry Museum’s 2006 and 2005 financial statements follows that
approach, breaking the Pledges into three parts based on when amounts will be due.
Moreover, it is notable that the 2005 balance sheets drop the distinction between current
and other assets.>® Unfortunately the Friends have not been able to obtain the notes to the
2000 financial statements. The 2000 statements do not divide the Pledges into the three
required categories in the main body of the balance sheet. However, the statements do
divide the Pledges into two categories, one designated as current assets and the other as

* paragraph 110 is found in Appendix B, Basis for Considerations, to FASB No. 116.
! The FAS 116 Summary preceding the formal statement states:

Generally, contributions received, including unconditional promises to give, are
recognized as revenues in the period received at their fair market values.

Paragraph 3 of FASB No. 116, in defining the scope of FASB No. 116, provides that it “applies to
contributions of cash and other assets, including promises to give.” Paragraph 5 of FASB No. 116 states
that contributions include “unconditional promises to give” cash or other assets in the future. Paragraph 8
of FASB No. 116 states that “contributions received shall be recognized as revenues or gains in the period
received and as assets, decreases in liabilities, or expenses depending on the form of benefits received.” |
use the commonly used term “pledge” throughout this report to refer to what the Financial Accounting
Standards Board refers to as “unconditional promises to give.” See Paragraph 89 of FASB No. 116.

52 paragraph 24 of FASB No. 116.

> Interestingly, the 2006 financial statements reinstate the reference to current assets, but at least there is a
footnote disclosure describing the extended payment schedule. As noted, there was no such disclosure
accompanying the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet.
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non-current assets. Although this treatment does not comply with the specific terms of
FASB No. 116, it is much closer in spirit to the required treatment than the treatment of
the Pledges in 2002 Merger Balance Sheet.

Both the 2006/2005 and 2000 treatments of the Pledges distinguish between
valuation and timing. Anyone reviewing those statements would know that the bulk of
the Pledges were unlikely to be collected within the next year.>* On the other hand, the
2002 Merger Balance Sheet conflates the questions of timing and valuation, leading to
the inappropriate conclusion that the entire amount was to be collected within the next
year. That treatment is not in accordance with FASB No. 116, nor does it satisfy the
overarching principle set out in paragraph 110 of FASB No. 116 that promises to give
must be reported as faithfully as possible and without trying to color perceptions or
influence behavior one way or the other.*

Finally, setting aside the questions surrounding the Pledge, there is a further
question as to whether the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet complied with GAAP. That
balance sheet does not distinguish between unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and
permanently restricted assets, as required by GAAP.*® This seemingly cavalier approach
to a balance sheet representation made in connection with a transaction involving
potentially hundreds of millions of dollars in value is troubling, particularly when
institutions and other stakeholders changed their positions in reliance on it.

D. THE 2002 MERGER BALANCE SHEET 1S MISLEADING.>” Not only does the
2002 Merger Balance Sheet fail to comply with GAAP, but its presentation is
misleading.®® Most financial users view a current asset as something that is expected to

> It is always possible that Mrs. Autry might unexpectedly die, triggering payment. However, the actuarial

tables ignore that probability in the case of any particular individual.
*® See note 50, supra.

% Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement No. 117—Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit
Organizations, June 2003, at Paragraph 13, Page 8. Paragraph 13 provides:

A statement of financial position provided by a not-for-profit organization shall report
the amounts for each of three classes of net assets—permanently restricted net assets,
temporarily restricted net assets, and unrestricted net assets—based on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

Paragraph 14 goes on to provide:

Information about the nature and amounts of different types of permanent restrictions
or temporary restrictions shall be provided either by reporting their amounts on the
face of the statement or by including relevant details in notes to financial statements.

FASB No. 116 requires special disclosures in the case of contributions, requiring that, “A not-for-profit
organization shall distinguish between contributions received with permanent restrictions, those received
with temporary restrictions, and those received without donor-imposed restrictions.” FASB Statement No.
116, note supra, at Paragraph 14, Page 7.

> See note 12, supra.

% d.
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be converted into cash within the next year. That is probably a good working
definition.®® Without further explanation, anyone reviewing the 2002 Merger Balance
Sheet would be entitled to draw that conclusion.

1. My OWN EXPERIENCE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT. One of the first
documents I reviewed when the Friends asked me to prepare this report was the Merger
Agreement, including the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet. This balance sheet included a $98
million balance for current receivables. Based on my conversations with the Friends, |
assumed a significant portion of this balance included the Pledge. It was only after
reviewing the Forms 990 and 990-PF for the Autry Museum, that I concluded that this
assumption was correct. Even then, | had no idea as to the terms of that Pledge. Until the
Friends were able to obtain the 2005 and 2000 financial statements, my working
assumption was that the Pledge called for an immediate payment of just under $100
million, or at least full payment within one year from the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet
date. That assumption was shaped by the classification of the receivables as current
assets. | further assumed that the Autry Foundation had decided not to pay the Pledge
until the Autry Museum actually needed the funds for construction of its addition to its
Griffith Park facility, repairs to the Southwest Museum site, and other expenditures called
for under the Master Plan.?® That assumption was justified by the extraordinary control
granted to the Autry Foundation (and consequently, Mrs. Autry) under the bylaws
attached as Exhibit C to the Merger Agreement. In short, my initial and incorrect
assessment regarding the Pledge stemmed solely from its characterization as a current
asset.

2. THE MERGER AGREEMENT DISCLOSURES DID NOT ADHERE TO STANDARD
PRACTICES. Anyone who has ever been involved in negotiating an agreement for the
purchase of a business or the merger of two entities would likely arrive at the same
conclusion that I initially reached. The representations and warranties in purchase and
merger agreements are frequently the most heavily negotiated provisions in those
agreements. It is not at all unusual to find numerous schedules containing exceptions to
or information clarifying the representations and warranties. When it comes to the
Merger Agreement, there is absolutely no exception or further explanation regarding the
$98 million in current receivables. Given this unqualified representation, any reasonable
person would conclude that there was $98 million of current value associated with the

% Accounting Research Bulletin N. 43, Chapter 3A, “Working Capital—Current Assets and Current
Liabilities” offers a more precise definition for the term “current asset” as one that is “reasonably expected
to be realized in cash or consumed during the normal operating cycle of the business.” Given the time
limitations imposed on me, | am unable to develop a full analysis of the concept of “normal operating
cycle,” but | suspect and assume that the Autry Museum’s normal operating cycle is most likely a year.

% Section 13(i) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, note 1, supra, required the Autry Museum to:

undertake a thorough analysis and collaborative planning process regarding the
combination of the Autry and Southwest to be completed no later than September 30,
2003 (the “Master Plan™) which shall include, among other items: (i) facility reports
which will analyze structure of facilities of Southwest and Autry existing as of the
date hereof; and (ii) plans relating to capital and endowment campaigns.
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receivables (which included the Pledges). Yet, five years following the merger, little of
that value has been converted into cash,®* contrary to its classification as a current asset.

3. THE OBVIOUS QUESTION: Why did the Autry Museum’s approach in the 2002
Merger Balance Sheet differ so radically from the approach it took with respect to the
Pledges in 2000 and 2006/2005? The Pledges are included as part of the $103 million
and $101 million receivables balances shown in both the 2006 and 2005 financial
statements,®? but Footnote 3 to the financial statements provides the required aging
schedule for payments under the Pledges and Footnote 5 provides a limited description of
the Pledges and how they are valued. In stark contrast, the entire value of the Pledges
was classified as a current asset on the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet, with no further
explanation. Only those who approved these disclosures on behalf of the Autry Museum
can explain their motivations and rationales. Whatever the answer, it does not justify or
excuse what was a failure to comply with GAAP in assembling the 2002 Merger Balance
Sheet that the Merger Agreement required to be GAAP compliant. Nor does it justify or
excuse creating an impression that is clearly misleading.®®

E. THE AUTRY MUSEUM’S ALLEGED FINANCIAL SUPERIORITY IS OPEN TO
SERIOUS QUESTION. As previously noted, the merger between the Autry Museum and
the Southwest Museum has been consistently characterized as a merger between a cash-
rich institution (Autry Museum) and a financially strapped museum with a priceless
collection (Southwest Museum).®*  The facts do not support that characterization. More
important, the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet’s inappropriate and misleading®® treatment of
the Pledges obscures the true facts.

1. REMOVING THE PLEDGES FROM THE PRESENTATION. Exhibit K to this
report contains a comparative analysis of the tax return data for the Autry Museum and
the Southwest Museum. Anyone examining the data will have difficulty arguing that
there was any material difference between the financial conditions of the two museums
immediately prior to the merger once collections, facilities, and equipment are removed

® This assumes that there has not been a material acceleration of payments under the Pledges since
December 31, 2006, the date of the last set of financial statements made available to me by the Friends.

The $25 million conditional promise referred to in Note 2 to the 2006 Autry Museum financial
statements appears to be an additional commitment of funds rather than an acceleration of the portion of the
Pledge characterized as a long-term capital contribution in Note 5 to the Autry Museum financial
statements. Appearances, however, could be misleading. The terms of the Pledge, which are unknown,
could conceivably provide that any additional contributions by Mrs. Autry or the Autry Foundation reduce
the $100 million long-term capital contribution. Whether that is the case might be clarified by future
financial statements and the release of the documents embodying the Pledge.

%2 Note 5 to both the 2006 and 2005 Autry Museum financial statements.
% See note 12, supra.
% See notes 34, 35, and 36, supra, and the accompanying text.

d.
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from the analysis, particularly in view of the size of the Pledges, which far exceed all
other assets. In fact, it is possible to argue that the Southwest Museum was the stronger
of the two if the focus is on net liquid worth. Exhibit K should be reviewed in its
entirety, but the following two tables capture the essence of the balance sheet and income
statement numbers:

Net Liquid
Worth

1999 2000 2001 2002

Southwest
Museum

$5,966,867

$4,932,682

$5,794,322

$5,632,114

Autry
Museum

$3,979,235

$3,066,800

$2,930,259

$3,751,148

Excess of
Southwest
Museum’s
Net Liquid
Worth
Over Autry
Museum’s

$1,987,632

$1,865,882

$2,864,063

$1,880,966

Operating
Cash Flow

1999

2000

2001

2002

Autry
Museum

$3,323,395

$78,548

$176,436

$2,225,333

Southwest
Museum

-$152,726

-$1,023,373

$998,470

$74,787

Excess of
Autry
Museum’s
Operating
Cash Flow
Over
Southwest
Museum’s

$3,476,121

$1,101,921

-$822,034

$2,150,546

Does the analysis conclusively demonstrate that the Southwest Museum is actually the
more financially sound institution when collections, buildings, and the Pledge are
removed from the analysis? Absolutely not, but at the same time, the analysis
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conclusively demonstrates that the two institutions were in relatively similar positions in
terms of liquid assets and operating cash flow. On average, the Southwest Museum had
just under $2.14 million more in net liquid assets than the Autry Museum in the four
years leading up to the merger. On the other hand, the Autry Museum was generating
significantly more operating cash flow in those years; on average $1.48 million more. No
doubt without special grants, the Southwest Museum’s recurring operating cash flow
deficits would have eventually consumed its net liquid worth if those deficits continued
unabated.

But the fundamental contention underlying the merger was that the Autry
Museum was in a position to fund massive capital expenditures, additions to endowment,
and operating shortfalls because of $98 million in current assets. The actual differences,
as reflected in the above schedules, between the two museums are immaterial when
considered in relation to that $98 million number.

Undoubtedly the Autry Museum’s representatives will point out that Southwest
Museum is on a June 30 fiscal year while the Autry is on the calendar year, meaning that
the same periods are not being compared. That is a legitimate point, but in all likelihood
not a material one in terms of the basic analysis and conclusions. They might also point
to the Southwest Museum’s need for additional funding from the Autry Museum in the
months leading up to the merger as a sign of financial weakness. That line of reasoning
is specious. The potential for a merger or other major restructuring was widely reported
in mid-2001,°® making it likely that many of the Southwest Museum’s traditional
contributors ceased making contributions to the museum until the uncertainty was
resolved.®” A decline in support due to uncertainty cannot be equated with a decline in
support due to lack of interest.

On the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet, the Autry Museum reported that its collection
added some $30 million to its net worth, while the Southwest Museum reflects no value

for its collection on the balance sheet it included as an exhibit to the Merger Agreement.®®

% James Sterngold, Cowboys and Indians Vie, Politely, for a Museum: A Los Angeles Collection Considers
Two Suitors, N.Y. TIMES, Aug. 28, 2001; and Suzanne Muchnic, Southwest Museum Seeks Ways to Break
Out of Box, L.A. TIMES, June 2, 2001.

%7 In fact, there is evidence supporting this supposition. The L.A. Times, in summarizing an interview with
Duane King, the Southwest Museum’s director, suggested that the uncertainty was having an impact on
private benefactors to provide funding. Southwest Museum Seeks Ways, note 66, supra. In May 2002, the
New York Times reported that the uncertainly had adversely affected donations, causing “some important
donors [to] pull[] back until the future became clearer.” James Sterngold, New Travails for a Struggling
California Museum, N.Y. TIMES, May 26, 2002.

% |t is notable that FASB No 116 permits museums and other cultural institutions to either capitalize a
collection or ignore it for balance sheet purposes if the collection is: (i) held for public exhibition,
education, or research in furtherance of public service rather than financial gain; (ii) protected, kept
unencumbered, cared for, and preserved; and (iii) subject to an organizational policy that requires the
proceeds of items that are sold to be used to acquire other items for the collection. | suspect that those
conditions were satisfied in the case of both the Autry Museum and the Southwest Museum. The Autry
Museum chose to reflect the value of the collection in the financial statement exhibit to the Merger
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The Southwest Museum reports under $1 million attributable to its land, building and
equipment, while the Autry Museum reports its land, building, and equipment at close to
$23 million. | have never seen either collection and certainly have no experience valuing
collections, but every account | have read suggests that the pre-merger value of the
Southwest Museum’s collection far surpassed the pre-merger value of the Autry
Museum’s collection. Consequently, a good case can be made that the book values
assigned to tangible assets by both institutions are relatively meaningless in terms of
actual values, most likely reflecting different acquisition and placed-in-service dates, as
well as differences in accounting policies. The larger point remains true: The Autry
Museum was not in much better financial condition than the Southwest Museum once the
Pledge is removed from the analysis. Ignoring the Pledge is appropriate given the fact
that a significant portion of it will not be converted into cash for some two decades when
actuarial tables are taken into account.

2. THE ANNUAL $6.050 MILLION ANNUITY 1S NOT EVEN SUFFICIENT FOR THE
PRE-MERGER AUTRY MuUSeEUM’s NEEDS. Autry Museum officials are likely to argue
that even if the $100 million pledged long-term capital contribution is ignored, the $6.050
million annuity is a significant asset, placing the Autry Museum in far superior financial
position than the Southwest Museum at the time of the merger. There is some logic to
that argument, but it is nevertheless seriously flawed, as the schedule in Exhibit L
reveals,”® which summarizes the Autry Museum’s operating results in years before and
after the merger (2000-2006).

For the three years preceding the merger the annual payment under the Pledges
appear to have been necessary to keep the Autry Museum operating anywhere close to
breakeven. In fact, in two of those years (2001 and 2000), the Autry Museum was
operating at a deficit despite the apparent cash contributions from Mrs. Autry and the
Autry Foundation. Over the three-year period (2002, 2001, and 2000) preceding the
merger, the Autry Museum generated a $311,481 deficit despite apparently receiving

Agreement while the Southwest Museum did not. In its 2007 financial statements, the Metropolitan
Museum of Art, one of the largest museums in the world, states:

In conformity with accounting policies generally followed by art museums, the value
of the Museum’s collections has been excluded from the Balance Sheet, and gifts of
art objects are excluded from revenue in the Statement of Activities.

[italics added]

% Except as noted below, the numbers in Exhibit L are taken directly from the tax returns for the Autry
Museum. Some of the expenses shown on those tax returns probably do not represent current cash
expenditures. There is some indication that some of the revenue was either additional pledges or in-kind
contributions. An analysis based on cash flow admittedly would be more accurate. However, given the
fact that the focus is on the $98 million current asset representation, | suspect that the analysis would not
change in any material way were the numbers all cash based. Moreover, the allowance for depreciation is
not an entirely meaningless one. It does represent the deterioration of assets that will presumably need to
be replaced.

The Autry Museum’s audited financial statements for 2006 and 2005 do include a statement of cash flows
that provides cash flow information for 2006, 2005, and 2004. This information is included in the last row
of Exhibit L.
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millions of dollars in payments from the Pledges. These numbers are derived from tax
return data. The three years (2006, 2005, and 2004) for which audited financial
statements are available show that the Autry Museum’s operations generated a
cumulative $9,023,539 operating cash flow deficit.”

Yet, the merger was predicated on the notion that the “$100 million endowment”
that the media kept reporting would not only cover the Autry Museum’s operating needs,
but be available to assist the Southwest Museum operations and the expansion plans.
Although an annual $6.050 million payment is significant, it was the $100 million long-
term capital contribution that was critical element in funding everyone’s expectations.
However, that $100 million asset will not be convertible into spendable cash for some 24
years following the merger when the actuarial tables are taken into account. In short, the
$6.050 million annual payment represents a significant asset on an absolute basis,
however, as an asset, it comes nowhere close to meeting the combined needs and plans
that everyone had for the post-merger entity.

VI. IMPLICATIONS FLOWING FROM IMPROPER ACCOUNTING
TREATMENT

There are a number of serious implications flowing from the inappropriate
treatment of the Pledges in the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet.

A. SOUTHWEST BOARD MIGHT HAVE CHOSEN ANOTHER ALTERNATIVE. Prior
to entering into the Merger Agreement, the Southwest Museum had a number of
alternatives available to it. It had talked with the Smithsonian Institution, the J. Paul
Getty Trust, and a Native American tribe about possible combinations or other
arrangements. | do not know what each member of the Southwest Museum board knew
about the Pledges or the financial condition of the Autry Museum. It is likely that they
knew about the Pledges, but it is certainly conceivable, given the media accounts and the
2002 Merger Balance Sheet representation, that some Southwest Museum board
members believed that the Autry Museum had a $100 million immediately available to it

™ Focusing once again on tax return data, it is not entirely clear that the $6.050 million annual payment
under the Pledges is included in the gross and net revenue figure, but it appears likely. The Schedule B
attached to the 2005 Form 990 for Autry shows aggregate contributions from the Autry Foundation and
Mrs. Autry of $6,687,752 and the 2006 return shows a contribution from Mrs. Autry of $5,328,650 and no
contribution from the Autry Foundation. On average, these contributions amounted to $6,008,201 per year,
which is very close to the $6.050 million annual commitment reflected by the Pledges. If these amounts
are included in the gross and net receipts reflected on the tax returns, that means that without these
amounts, the Autry Museum ran a $9,744,037 cumulative deficit ($115,708 [2006] + $2,156,657 [2005] —
$12,016,402[2006 and 2005 Pledge Payments]) for the years 2006 and 2005 based on its tax returns.
Turning from the tax returns to the Autry Museum’s audited financial statements, the Statement of Cash
Flows for those same years included as part of the Autry Museum’s financial statements reports a
cumulative operating cash flow deficit of $5.89 million. Much more work and a conversation with the
Autry Museum’s chief financial officer would be necessary to reconcile the tax and financial statement
numbers. But from a ballpark perspective, both sets of numbers point to operating deficits, or at least
insufficient cash flow to be used to finance increases in endowment and major expansions and renovations
to physical plant. That fact once again points to the problem with classifying the long-term capital
contribution as a current asset on the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet.
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on an unrestricted basis. If that was their belief, they certainly might have been far less
receptive to the merger between the Southwest Museum and the Autry Museum had they
known the full terms of the Pledges. As I have already noted, there is a significant
difference between $100 million today and $100 million in 24.4 years.

A review of the Merger Agreement makes clear that the Autry Museum was the
entity with the bargaining power in this relationship. Specifically, Exhibit C to the
Merger Agreement includes the bylaws (as amended and restated through March 4, 2003)
of the Autry Museum. Article 111 of the bylaws contains the provisions governing
directors. One-third of the then existing board was designated by the Autry Foundation.’
Only three of the directors were directors of the Southwest Museum prior to the merger,
and they were subject to term limits.’® The Autry Foundation had the power to appoint
the Autry Museum’s legal counsel” and the chairman of the board of directors.”* Section
13(j) required the parties to use all efforts to build a new facility adjacent to the existing
Autry Museum, while another provision only required reasonable efforts” to keep the
Southwest Museum facility open, and then, only after a study had determined the
structural modifications were feasible. It is not at all clear whether the Southwest
Museum board would have agreed to these provisions if it had completely understood the
nature of the Pledges.”

1

B. COMMUNITY OPPOSITION MIGHT HAVE BEEN STRONGER. Several media
accounts report significant community opposition to the merger between the Southwest
Museum and the Autry Museum. For example, on March 14, 2003, the Los Angeles
Times began an article with the following description:

Leaders of the Autry and Southwest museums, who delayed their
merger efforts last month when the Southwest's neighbors called for
reassurances over the fate of its historic Mount Washington building,

™ Section 2, Article 111 of the Autry Museum’s amended and restated March 4, 2003 bylaws provides for
between 9 and 15 directors. Those bylaws name 12 directors.

"2 1d., at Section 5, Article 111.

" 1d., at Section 3, Article 111.

1d.

" Section 13(j)(iii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, note 1, supra.

"® There is evidence that the Autry Museum has recently altered its corporate structure, providing for a
much larger board. The information posted on the California Attorney General’s Web site now includes
dozens of trustees. | do not know whether this change and other changes strengthened the Autry
Foundation’s legal control over the Autry Museum, but that is certainly a possibility. It may seem counter-
intuitive, but larger boards often increase the level of control exercised by executive officers and a
designated executive committee by diminishing the potential impact that a board member outside the inner
circle has in the decision-making process.
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have not only mended fences with the community but sealed details of
their partnership with a joint-board vote.””

What is particularly notable about this article is a later passage quoting one of the
community leaders as expressing appreciation over the Autry Museum’s willingness to
participate in a “getting-to-know-you process.” That sentence is followed by the
following assessment of the Autry Museum’s financial condition:

The Autry was founded in 1988 with the mission of exploring Western
history alongside the pop-culture mythology of the region. Its plump
bank accounts include a $100-million endowment donated in 2000 by
Jackie Autry, widow of singing cowboy Gene Autry.”

This is clear mischaracterization of the $100 million long-term capital contribution,
which was actuarially due some 24 years hence. From working with the Friends, it is
clear to me that little was known about the terms of the Pledges, making it very likely that
many in the community were relying on inaccurate press accounts like the one in the Los
Angeles Times. Given the fact that the community was primarily concerned with
restoration of the Southwest Museum site and its continued use as a museum, it is hard
for me to believe that the community would have supported the merger had they realized
that the $100 million endowment referred to in the Los Angeles Times story”® could not
be spent for more than two decades.

C. THE CALIFORNIA ATTORNEY GENERAL MIGHT NOT HAVE “APPROVED”
THE MERGER. Section 6010 of the California Corporations Code required the Southwest
Museum and the Autry Museum to provide the California Attorney General with 20 days
notice of the merger before consummating it.% In theory, the transaction did not require
the consent of the California Attorney General. However, some of the correspondence in
the documents that the Friends provided to me does indicate that the California Attorney
General undertook some review and was willing to at least listen to concerns expressed
by interested stakeholders.®* | suspect that although the statutes don’t require the

" Christopher Reynolds, Autry and Southwest Museums Seal a Deal: Officials Mend Fences with
Neighbors and the Two Boards Vote on the Merger, Which Includes a Joint October Exhibit, L.A. TIMES,
Mar. 14, 2003.

1d.
™ Christopher Reynolds, Autry and Southwest Museums Seal a Deal, note 77, supra.

8 California Attorney General, Guide for Charities at p 37 (Revised 2005). See also Section 3(b) of the
Agreement and Plan of Merger, note 1, supra

81 | etter from Nicole Possert for the Friends of the Southwest Museum Coalition, dated April 11, 2003, to
James Cordi, Supervising Deputy Attorney General, California Department of Justice raising concerns
about the Autry Foundation’s role, particularly its rights under the proposed bylaws; and Letter from James
Cordi, Supervising Deputy Attorney General, California Department of Justice, dated April 22, 2003, to
Nicole Possert indicating that the Department of Justice already had sufficient material. Attached to that
letter is a letter from David W. Cartwright of O’Melveny & Meyers LLP. His letter is directed at apparent
concerns that the new institution honor donor restrictions.
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California Attorney General’s consent per se, an apparent informal review was
undertaken by the California Attorney General, with a focus on the ability of the
surviving entity to protect charitable assets and adhere to existing donor restrictions
applicable to those assets.®? If my suspicions are correct, the representation that the
Autry Museum had $98 million in unrestricted current receivables may have influenced
the review and the willingness of the California Attorney General to intervene. After all,
a $98 million infusion of current assets certainly would appear to go a long way toward
assuring that a valuable collection of artifacts would be properly protected and displayed
as the donors of those objects would have desired. Yet, as | have demonstrated, the
characterization of the Pledges on the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet was both misleading®®
and noncompliant with GAAP.

D. PHILANTHROPIC COMMUNITY APPARENTLY SEES $100 MILLION DEFERRED
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION PLEDGES FOR WHAT IT Is. | can only speculate as to the
strategy that Mrs. Autry and the Autry Foundation had when they decided to defer the
$100 million capital contribution. It may be that they viewed a current gift of $100
million as being equivalent to a deferred gift of $100 million, together with an annual
$6.050 million contribution. In effect, Mrs. Autry and the Autry Foundation could be
viewed as keeping the $100 million endowment for the foreseeable future, but turning the
annual income on the endowment over to the Autry Museum. They must have assumed
that members of the philanthropic community would be willing to make significant
contributions to the Autry Museum given the steady and significant ($6.050 million)

8 See Thomas Silk, Corporate Scandals and the Governance of Nonprofit Corporations: What Every
Director, Officer, and Advisor of Nonprofit Corporations in California Should Know About Corporate
Responsibility Rules, September 2002, discussing California’s charitable trust doctrine. The California
Supreme Court first enunciated the doctrine in Pacific Home v. County of Los Angeles, 41 Cal.2d 844, 852
(1953), stating:

all the assets of a corporation organized solely for charitable purposes must be
deemed to be impressed with a charitable trust by virtue of the express declaration of
the corporation’s purposes, and notwithstanding the absence of any express
declaration by those who contribute such assets as to the purpose for which the
contributions are made. In other words, the acceptance of such assets under these
circumstances establishes a charitable trust for the declared corporate purposes as
effectively as though the assets had been accepted from a donor who had expressly
provided in the instrument evidence the gift that it was to be held in trust solely for
such charitable purposes.

Silk points out that:

Charitable trust restrictions, once imposed, continue to apply to assets impressed with a
charitable trust even if a corporation later changes its purposes, dissolves and distributes
its assets, or transfers its assets to a another charity without receiving full consideration.
Charitable restrictions, once imposed, also continue to apply to the proceeds from the
sale or lease of any charitable assets.

The charitable trust doctrine presumably serves as the basis for the California Attorney General’s informal
review of the merger despite the fact that the statute only requires notice to be filed.

8 See note 12, supra
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stream of annual support from Mrs. Autry and the Autry Foundation. That possible
assumption is arguably reflected in the $100 million capital campaign called for by
Section 13(h) of the Merger Agreement. The Autry Museum was required to begin that
campaign in 2004.

Whatever the strategy, it appears to have been a misguided one. The
philanthropic community so far has not been convinced of the need; at least that is what
its lackluster response suggests. Through December 31, 2006, that capital campaign has
only produced $20.83 million in contributions, just over 20% of its goal.** That amount
falls far short of what everyone understood the various commitments would require. The
parties had estimated at one time that the Autry Museum would require $15 million to
renovate and repair the Southwest Museum site and an additional $38 million was needed
for endowment.® No one appears to have put an estimate on the expansion of the Autry
Museum’s Griffith Park facility, but it surely must be in the tens of millions of dollars.
Apparently the philanthropic community believes there is money available to fund the
various needs. Rather than committing new funds, it might be sending a message to Mrs.
Autry and the Autry Foundation, telling them to first fulfill their existing commitments
by accelerating payments.

VII. CONCLUSIONS

My overall conclusions were expressed as part of the Executive Summary. In
light of those conclusions, the California Attorney General should undertake a de novo
review of the merger. Any prior review was based on a review of financial statements
containing a material deficiency. That deficiency undercut the entire rationale for the
merger.

Now that | have raised these questions regarding the nature of the Pledge and the
financial issues that follow, the Los Angeles Department of Parks and Recreation and
other Los Angeles government officials who are involved in the decision to cede valuable
City parkland to the Autry Museum for what could be many more years should demand
that the Autry Museum and the related parties disclose the full terms of the Pledge.
Moreover, the department and these officials should undertake an independent financial

8 Note 8 to the 2006 and 2005 Autry Museum financial statements reveals “contributions” of $8,645,984
for 2006, $7,959,410 for 2005 and $4,229,085 for 2004. These lackluster results once again prove the old
adage “That a bird in the hand is worth two in the bush.” That is exactly why full and accurate disclosure
of the payment schedule for the Pledge in the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet was so critical to an informed
decision.

8 Autry and Southwest Museums Seal Deal, note 27, supra. In fact, the Autry Museum commissioned a
study by Brenda Levin & Associates to assess the historic structures and the Southwest Museum site. The
Levin consultant team was charged by the Autry Museum to determine what it would take to rehabilitate
the Southwest Museum Building to modern museum standards for display and exhibition and consistent
with U.S. Secretary of Interior Standards for historic preservation. The resulting report documented that it
was both physically and economically viable to rehabilitate the Southwest Museum and continue its
historic museum use. This third party report established the baseline of what was needed for the Autry
Museum to continue to use the Southwest Museum as a museum. Consistent with newspaper reports, the
report indicated that under one option, the capital cost for rehabilitation would be $16.2 million. Under
another option, the capital cost would be $22.8 million.
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analysis as to whether the Autry Museum has the financial capacity to bring its proposal
to fruition, to support the expanded museum, and to fulfill its obligations to the
Southwest Museum under the Merger Agreement. Such an analysis may not be required
by the California Environmental Quality Act,® but public officials who are committing
public resources for use by a private entity would be prudent to undertake such an
analysis regardless of basic legal requirements.

As the Friends acknowledge, there was never any guarantee under the Merger
Agreement that the Mount Washington facility would continue to function as a museum.
That said, the Merger Agreement required that a Master Plan be completed within six
months to determine whether reasonable efforts could be taken to maintain the site as a
museum. According to the Friends, that Master Plan has never been undertaken, or at
least never publicly disclosed,®” but the Southwest Museum rehabilitation report prepared
by Brenda Levin and Associates did find that rehabilitation of the Southwest Museum to
museum standards was feasible and economic. Yet, those who now control the Mount
Washington site have apparently taken steps to change its use from a museum to an
alternative use, or at least they have not been clear regarding their current intentions.
This calls into question their original intentions.

Those who wanted to save the Southwest Museum and preserve its facility as a
museum were undoubtedly enticed by the $98,178,777.34 in current receivables listed on
the 2002 Merger Balance Sheet. The problem is that those receivables were anything but
current.

8 As someone who is largely unfamiliar with this act and who is not licensed to practice law in California,
I am unable to determine or comment on whether the act requires a financial analysis.

8 That is stark contrast to the plan for the Griffith Park expansion of the Autry Museum, which is featured
on the Autry Museum’s Web site, including descriptive material, artist renderings, floor layouts, timelines,
a video walk-through, and a draft environmental impact report.
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER
(Autry National Center of the American West)

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER dated March 4, 2003, is between THE
AUTRY WESTERN HERITAGE MUSEUM, a California non-profit corporation formerly known
as the Gene Autry Western Heritage Museum (the “Autry”), and THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM,
a Cazlifornia non-profit corporat:on (the “Southwest’).

A. The Southwest and the Autry presently provide deep and rich collections, and
‘offer important opportunities for scholarly research. Both institutions are active participants in
public and community activities.

B. At present, however, there is no institution in the United States which
comprehensively provides the broad historical reach and in-depth collections ideally suited to
meet the needs of the public and of scholars interested in the ¢ultures of the West. Southwest
and Autry recognize the strong connections and complementary characteristics and strengths of

.their respective missions and collections, and further recognize that, together, the institutions
can become the pre-eminent repository of the history and cultures of Westem America, from the
societies of the American Indian, through the Northern Frontiers of New Spain and Mexico, to
the realities and myths of the American West. In combination, the institutions could offer to the
public and to scholars the most significant and comprehensive research and exhibit facilities on
these subjects in the country.

C. Accordingly, the Board of Directors of the Auiry and the Board of Trustees of the
Southwest deem it advisable and in the best interests of the Autry and the Southwest,
respectively, that the Autry and the Southwest collectively create the Autry National Center of
the American West (the “Center”) in accordance with this Agreement, by:

M amending the articies of incorporation of the Autry to change its hame to
the “Autry National Center of the American West” and amending and restating its bylaws
as provided for herein; and

(2) merging the Southwest with the Center in accordance with the provisions
of the Califomia Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law (the “Act”).

D. The parties wish to enter into this agreéh‘]ént to set forth their respective
obligations in connection with the formation of the Center and the merger.

IN CONSIDERATION of the foregoing recitals and the mutual covenants contained
herein, the parties agree as follows:

1. Status.

(a) Surviving Corporation. The Autry is a California non-profit corporation,
with Employer Identification No. 95-3947744. The Autry has no members as defined in the Act.
A copy of the IRS letter, determining that the Adutry is a public charity under Internal Revenue

Code ("IRC") Section 509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi) is attached as Exhibit A. There has been
no change to this status since the date of the letter.

(b) Disappearing Corporation. The Southwest is a California non-profit
corporation with Employer Identification No. 85-1661698. The Southwest has no members as
defined in the Act. A copy of the IRS letter, determining that the Southwest is a public charity

nana



shall file its 2002 return no later than June 30, 2003 and concurrently provide the Autry a copy
of same for review. Southwest’s current tax retums and the audited financial statements are
being prepared by Rothstein, Kass & Company. Southwest has made all necessary and
appropriate state tax and regulatory filings for the past ten (10) years. Southwest shall provide
Autry access to true and correct copies of all of such filings.

(e) Employee Status. Southwest represents and warrants to the Autry that it
has no employees as of the date of this Agreement except as disclosed in Schedule C to the
Southwest Certificate (“Southwest Employees”), and that said Schedule C fully describes the
status and any employment or termination agreements of such employees on or prior to the
Effective Date. Except for any such employee benefits described in the schedule of surviving
contracts and agreements attached as Schedule B to the Southwest Certificate, Schedule C
also fully describes the status of any employee benefit programs (including life insurance and
health insurance programs) applicable to such employees on or prior to the Effactive Date.

(H) Retirement Plans. Southwest does not have any retirement system or
obligations respecting any past or present employee, except for plans, if any, described on
Schedule C to the Scuthwest Certificate, trus and correct copies of which plans have been
provided to the Autry prior to the date of this Agreement.

(@) Title. The Southwest’s collection is summarized in Scheduie D to the
Southwest Certificate. Southwest represents and warrants that said Schedule D is accurate in
all material respects. The Autry shall have access to the individual records of the collection
which are maintained electronically or in written form at the Southwest. With respect to title to
the Southwest's collection on an overall basis, in all material respects to the best knowledge of
the Southwest (which for purposes of this provision shall mean the actual knowledge of any of
the Chairman, President, Secretary and Executive Director of the Southwest), the Southwest
holds defensible {itle to its collection except as otherwise disclosed in said Schedule D or in
Schedule E. In addition, there have been no written claims or disputes (or written threats
thereof) of any kind concerning the Southwest's title to any items in its collection, except: (i) as

specifically disclosed in said Schedule D, (i) for any restrictions and conditions with respect to

any item in the collection set forth in the deed of gift or other instrument applicable to the
acquisition of such item, (i) for any such claims or disputes made more than ten (10) years
prior to the date of this Agreement which have not been pursued or foliowed up in writing during
such ten-year period, (iv) for certain claims under NAGPRA (the Native American Graves
Protection and Repatriation Act), and (v) for claims or disputes which have been resolved.

(h) No Claims or Litigation. Except as specifically disclosed in Schedule E to
the Southwest Certificate, there are (i) no outstanding claims or litigation against the Southwest
or its collection, and (ii) no threatened claims or litigation known to the Southwest. For the
purposes of this paragraph, “claims” or “litigation” cover the Southwest and its collection,
including tort-based claims, insurance claims, title issues, contract disputes, real property
disputes and any other area where the Southwest has direct material interests.

8. Representations and Warranties of Autry.

Reference is made to that Certificate of even date herewith (the “Autry Certificate”)

executed by the Autry in favor of the Southwest. Autry represents and warrants to the
Southwest that:

(@) Exempt Status. The information provided in Section 1(d) is true and
correct.



(b) Authorization. Subject to Section 3: (i) the execution and delivery of this
Agreement by Autry, the performance of its obligations hereunder and the consummation of the
Merger, have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of
Autry; and (i) Autry has duly executed and delivered this Agreement, and this Agreement is a
legal, valid and binding obligation of it, enforceable in accordance with its terms (except insofar
as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptey, insolvency, reorganization, ,
moratorium or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, or by principles governing
the availability of equitable remedies).

(c) Assets and Liabilities. The Autry certifies that the balance sheet attached
Schedule A to the Autry Certificate presents fairly, in all material respects, the assets and
liabilities of the Autry, in accordance with GAAP, as of December 31, 2002.

(d) Tax Matters. Autry has made all necessary and appropriate federal tax
filings for the past ten (10) years. Autry certifies that its 2001 federal tax filing is true and correct
in all material respects and there have been no material adverse changes to the Autry’s
financial position or tax status since the period covered by such filing. Autry shall file its 2002
return no later than June 30, 2003 and concurrently provide Southwest a copy of same for
review. Autry’s current tax returns and the audited financial statements are being prepared by
KPMG LLP (formerly known as KPMG Peat Marwick LLP). Autry has made all necessary and
appropriate state tax and regulatory filings for the past ten (10) years. Autry shall provide
Southwest access to true and correct copies of all of such filings.

9. Pledges. The SW Balance Sheet reflects the amount of certain donor pledges
totaling approximately $200,000 as of December 31, 2002, the funds of which have not been
received by the Southwest prior to the date of this Agreement. The Southwest and the Autry
shall use all reasonable efforts to cause such piedges to be funded to the Southwest prior to the
Effective Date and to the Center after the Effective Date.

10. Covenants Pending the Merger Effective Date. During the period between the
date of this Agreement and the Effective Date or the earlier termination of this Agreement (the
“Transition Period”), the Southwest and the Auiry shall, to the extent permitted by law,
commence the integration of their operations, pursue the collective fundraising required to
accomplish the initial objectives of the Center In addition, the following provisions of this
Section 10 shall apply:

(a) Museum Board Augmentation. Three persons jointly designated by
Southwest and Autry from the Autry Board or Autry Trustees shall be invited as observers to all
Southwest Board meetings throughout the Transition Period. Three persons jointly designated
by Southwest and Autry from the Southwest Board shall be invited as observers to all Autry
Board meetings throughout all the Transition Period.

(b) Creation of Center. The internal organization of the Center shall be
developed during the Transition Period. Separate museum boards shall continue to operate.
Action by the boards of both the Autry and the Southwest shall be needed to act on any major
matters impacting the Center. An unofficial Center Board shall be formed for purposes of
transition by mutual agreement.

(c) Transition. Southwest and Autry shall collectively take steps to integrate
fundraising, marketing, grant applications, organization, and to facilitate the Center's expansion
and appropriate utilization of the Southwest and Autry sites.



AUTRY CERTIFICATE

(Autry National Center of the American West)

THIS CERTIFICATE is executed as of March 4, 2003, by THE AUTRY WESTERN HERITAGE MUSEUM, a
ifornia non-profit corporation formerly known as the Gene Autry Western Heritage Museum (the “Autry”), in favor of THE

>OUTHWEST MUSEUM, a California non-profit corporation (the “Southwest”), pursuant to that Agreement and Plan of Merger of
even date herewith {the “Merger Agreement”) between the Autry and the Southwest.

IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants and agreements in the Merger Agreement, the Autry hereby represents

and warrants to the Southwest that the balance sheet attached hereto as Schedule A presents fairly, in all material respects, the

assets and liabilities of the Autry, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as of December 31, 2002,

IN ADDITION, the Autry acknowledges and hereby confirms its belief that the value of the merger in accordance

with the terms and restrictions in the Merger Agreement (including but not limited to restrictions applicable to de-accessioning any
part of the former collection of the Southwest) does not exceed the threshold level established under the rules implementing the

Hart-Scott-Rodino Act.
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WITNESS the execution of this Certificate as of the date set forth above.
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AUTRY CERTIFICATE
{Autry National Center of the American West)

THIS CERTIFICATE is executed as of March 4, 2003, by THE AUTRY WESTERN HERITAGE MUSEUM, a
~alifornia non-profit corporation formerly known as the Gene Autry Western Heritage Museum (the “Autry™), in favor of THE
SOUTHWEST MUSEUM, a California non-profit corporation {the “Southwest”), pursuant to that Agreement and Plan of Merger of
even date herewith (the “Merger Agreement”) between the Autry and the Southwest.

IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants and agreements in the Merger Agreement, the Autry hereby represents
and warrants to the Southwest that the balance sheet attached hereto as Schedule A presents fairly, in all material respects, the
assets and liabilities of the Autry, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as of December 31, 2002.

IN ADDITION, the Autry acknowledges and hereby confirms its belief that the value of the merger in accordance
with the terms and restrictions in the Merger Agreement {including but not limited to restrictions applicable to de-accessioning any
part of the former collection of the Southwest) does not exceed the threshold level established under the rules implementing the
Hart-Scott-Rodino Act.

WITNESS the execution of this Certificate as of the date set forth above.

THE AUTRY WESTERN HERITAGE MUSEUM, a California non-
proﬁt—e@{poration
N
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7 Jackie Autry, Chalr of_the Board
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AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE
SUMMARY BALANCE SHEET
FOR DECEMBER 2002 / DECEMBER 2001

ASSETS CURRENT YEAR PRIOR YEAR

CURRENT ASSETS

Total Cash 1,612,569.03 1,011,705.65
Total Receivables 08,178,777.34 97,683,962.33
Total Inventory 528,329.02 475,523.09
Total Prepaid Assets 246,400.72 137,053.89
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 100,566,076.11 99,308,244.96
Total Land/Building/Equipment (Net) 22.882,681.32 23,714,876.64
Total Deferred Assets 70,519.77 9,388.84
Total Library Assets 1,870,344.65 1,848,026.27
Total Collection of Museum Objects 30,836,035.37 30,536,160.30
Total Investment/Endowment Assets 2,104,436.73 1,648,791.57

Suspense

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES & OWNER'S EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

158,430,093.85

157,065,488.58

Total Short Term Payables 523,481.22 316,025.99
Other Current Liabilities 291,318.94 254 671.19
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 814,800.16 570,697.18
TOTAL LIABILITIES 814,800.16 570,697.18

Total Shareholder Equity

TOTAL LIABILITY/OWNER EQUITY

157,615,293.79

156,494,791.40

158,430,093.95

157,065,488.58




EXHIBIT B
AUTRY MUSEUM 2000 FORM 990-PF, BALANCE

SHEET
A REPORT ADDRESSING CERTAIN FINANCIAL ISSUES PERTAINING TO
THE 2003 MERGER BETWEEN THE AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE
AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM




form 990-PF Return of Private Foundation

or Section 4947(a)(1) Nonexempt Charitable Trust

Department of tne Treasury Treated as a Private Foundation

Intemal Revenus Service

Note: The organization may be abfe to use a copy of this return to satisty stale reporting requirements.

OMB No. 1545-0052

2000

For catendar year 2000, or tax year beginning , ang ending

G Check alt that apply: D Initial retum D Final retum D Amended retum

l | Address change

i:} Name change

Name of organization

A Employer identilication number

Use the IRS
label.
Otherwise, AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE 95-3947744
prini Number and street (or P.O. box number if mail is not deliverad 1o streel address) Boom/sulte (B Telephone number
artype. 14700 WESTERN HERITAGE WAY (323)677-2000
See Specific| _ o }
Instruttions City or town, stats, and ZIP code C 1t exempbon application is pending. check here P:l
LOS ANGELES, CA 90027-1462 D 1. Foreign organizations, check here ]
H Check typs of arganization: Section 501(c}(3) exempt private foundation 2. e et . ]

[ ] section 4947(a){1) nonexempt charitable trust [} Gthar taxabla private foundation

| Fair market value of all assets at J Accounting method: D Cash D Accrual
end of year (from Part Il, col. (c), Other (specity) FUND
ine1g) % 158,048, 747 .|(Part!, columnn (d) must be on cash basis.)

E It private foundation status was terminated
under section 507{b){1)(A), check here ..

»[]

F If the foundation is in a 60-month termination
under section 507(b}{1){B). check hara B>

Part:]{ Analysls of Revenue and Expenses
{The total of amounts in colurmns (b),
(c), and (d) may not necessanly equal
the amounts in column (a).)

(a) Revenue and
axpenses par
books

(b) Net investment
income

(¢) Adjusted nat
Income

(d) Disbursements
for charitable
purposes
{cash basis only)

1 Contnbutions, gifts, grants, etc, received 105 26 8 462 STATEHENT 1
2 Distributions from spiit-inferesttrusts . | 0
3 Gimvenmen O e
4 Dividends and interest from securities. ...
SaGrossrents ...
b (Net rentsl income or (lozs)
S | 62 g fgn o o se ctassemnaton
S gl demmmemmus 3999, 383,
.'.&- 5 7 Capiwi gain netincome (from Part M, iine2) |
vi* ©| B Netshort-ermcapitalgain .
B 9 Income modifications ...
S |10 g st nums
[}
! D Less: Cost of goons sald .
4 ¢ Grossprofitorloss) . ... ... . L
Z |1 owerincome . ... | 2,450,474, 23,698.] 2,450,474.
é 12 Total. Add tines 1 through 11 ... . [107,B842,641. 168,678.] 2,625,454.F
13 Compensation of oMficers, girectors, trustees, etc. . 162,423. 1,644- 164,423- 162'779.
14  (ther employes salaries and wages . ... 4,034,986, 40,350.] 4,034,986. 3,994,636,
15 Pension plans, employea benefits . 235,410. 2,354. 235,410. 233,056.
S 1163 Tega _STMT 7 2,720, 0. 2,720. 2,720.
HE STMT. 8 55,000, T,700. 55,000. 53,900.
|f| t Otherprofessiona|fdag STMTQ 404,927. 0. 404,927. 404,927.
g fovewnnl gl L 20. 20. 20. 0.
B E 18 Taxes el STMT 10 352,934. 3,413, 352,934. 349,522.
BT s I,032,691. 0. 1,032,691
g 21 Travel, conferences, and mestings . ... 93,242. 0. 93,242. 93,242,
E |22 Printing and publications . e 333,270. 0. 333,270. 333,270.
©23 Otherexpenses . . ... STMT 11 | 4,515,621, 4,465.] 4,515,621.] 4,511,158.
'§ 24 Total operating and administrative
8|  expenses. Add lings 13 through 23 11,225,244. 53,346.|11,225,244.{ 10,139,210.
|25 . conrivutions, gitts. grants paid . .. 870.[ - ' ' 870.
26 Total expenses and disoursements.
Addlnes 24and25 . ... . 11,226,114. 53,346.] 11,225,244./ 10,140,080.
27 Subtract line 26 trom line 12 R Y e ' :
a Excess of revenue over expenses and ;
disbursements . .. 96,616,527.1
b Net investment incOME Gt negauve, enter -0) ... A IR 145,332 .5
¢ Adjusted nel inCOME (1 negative, enter -0y . |.is R e

LHA For Paperwork Reduclion Act Notics, see the instructions.

0'- 10 01

Form 930-PF (2000}

%



Form990-PF (2000) ' AUTRY MUSEUM _OF WESTERN HERITAGE 95-3947744  Page?
— Aftached schacules. and 2MOUN in e cescrpbon Begirning of year End of year
;| Balance Sheets cotumn should be for 8n0-0hyear amounts onty {2) Book Value (b) Book Value {t) Fair Market Value
1 Cash - non-interast-bearing e L 1'1274r246- 11976r375‘ 1 976 375.
2 Savings and temporary cash |nvestmen!s e 230,037.

Assets

3 Accounts recevable 62,218.
Less: atiowance tor doubttul accounts ™

201,094,

230 037.

4 Pledges receivable P> 97,840,178.}:

Less: allowance for doubtiul accounts P

269,508.

97,840,178.

97,840,178:

5 Grants recevable .

6 Receivables due from urhcars dll’BClDrs trustoas and otnar

disqualified persans ... .. ..
7 Omer nows and ioans reconable

Less: aflowancs for doubttul accounts P

8 Inventories forsateoruse .

546,793.

437,582.

437,582.

9 Prepaid expenses and deferred charges

182,547,

94,436.

94,436.

10a Investmants - U.S. and slate govemment obligations

b Investments - corporate stock

1,799,555,

451,162,

451,162,

c Investrments - corporate bonds

11 wvestments - lana, buildings. and equipment basis
Lesy accurmubsed ceprociaton. L L

12 Investments - mortgage loans

13 Investments-other . . .. .............=AflL 10O

Land, buildings, and equipment: basis P 37,142,450
LS accuemUtaieg cepreciaion 12,589,651.

14

25,386,523,

24,552,799,

24,552,799,

15 Ofhorassets (describa® STATEMENT 17,

31,528,308.

32,068,710.

32,068,710.

16

Total assets {to be completed by all filers)

61,684,620.

158,048,747.

158,048,747,

Liabilities

17 Accounts payabie and accrued expenses

494,046.

648,046.

18 Grantspayable ... .. ...

19 Defarred revenus

20  Loans from otficers, dimeciors, rustees. and other disqualified persons

21 Mortgages and other notes payable

22 Qther liabilities (describe b }

23 Total llahilities {add iines 17 through 22}

494,046.

648,046.

Net Assets or Fund Balances

Organizations that follow SFAS 117, check here
and complete [ines 24 through 26 and lines 30 and 31.

24 Unrestricted e

25 Temporarily restricted

2B Permanently restricted . ..

Organizations that do nat follow SFAS 117, checkhere > [ X

and completa lines 27 through 31.

27 Capital stock, trust principal, or currant funds _

4,275,743.

100,788,581.

28 Paid-in or capital sumplus, orland, bidg., and equlpmant fund

56,914,831.

56,612,120.

29 HRetained earnings, accumulated incoms, endowment, or other funds___

0.

0.

30 Total net assets or fund balances

61,190,574.

157,400,701.

__131 Total liapilities and net assets/fund batances _..._.........

61,684,620.

158,048,747.

L Part Ili] Analysis of Changes in Net Assets or Fund Balances

1 Tolal net assets or fund balances at beginning of year - Part 11, column (a), line 30
{must agree with end-ot-year figure reported on prior year's return} . ... ... 1 61 I 190 ) 574.
2 Enteramountfrom Partl dine27a e i ] 2 96,616,527,
3 Other increases not included in line 2 (temize) W SEE STATEMENT 13 |3 1,519,601.
4 Addlines1,2,and3 e 181 159,326,702,
5 Decreases not mcluded in line 2 (ltemlze) » SEE STATEMENT 14 |5 1,926,001.
6 Total nel assets or fund balances at end of year (line 4 minus tina 5} - Part 11, column (b), line 30 | 157,400,701.
From 990-PF (2000
023511

01-10-01



EXHIBIT C

AUTRY MUSEUM 2000 FORM 990-PF, STATEMENT 1
A REPORT ADDRESSING CERTAIN FINANCIAL ISSUES PERTAINING TO
THE 2003 MERGER BETWEEN THE AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE
AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM




AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE 95-3947744

STATEMENT 1

CASH CONTRIBUTIONS OF $5000 OR MORE
INCLUDED ON PART I, LINE 1A

" FORM 990-PF

DATE OF
CONTRIBUTOR'S NAME CONTRIBUTOR'S ADDRESS GIFT AMOUNT
MAURCIE AMADO FOUNDATION 3940 LAUREL CANYON BLVD. #809, 11/06/00
STUDIO CITY, CA 91604 25,000.
ARCO FOUNDATION 333 S. HOPE ST., RM 1126, LOS 02/22/00
ANGELES, CA 90071 15,000.
ARTHUR ANDERSEN 100 ARTHUR ANDERSEN PARKWAY, 12/31/00
SARASOTA, FL 34232 37,000.
BANK OF AMERICA 401 N. TRYON STREET, 12/31/00
FOUNDATION CHARLOTTE, NC 28255 150,000.
BASEBALL-OFFICE OF THE 245 PARK AVENUE, NEW YORK, NY 10/06/00
COMMISSICNER 10167 10,000.
CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY 445 S. FIGUEROA ST.#3400, LOS 08/30/00
FOUNDATION ANGELES, CA %0071 5,000.
CALIFORNIA SCOTTISH RITE 855 ELM AVENUE, LONG BEACH, CA 11/22/00
FOUNDATION 90813 10,000.
CAPITOL GROUP 11100 SANTA MONICA BLVD., LOS 12/31/00
ANGELES, CA 90025 7,500.
BARBARA CARLSBERG P. O. BOX 7341, JACKSON, WY 12/31/00
83002 7,950.
AUTRY FOUNDATION 4383 COLFAX AVENUE, STUDIO 12/31/00
CTIY, CA 91604 710,684.
AUTRY FOUNDATION 4383 COLFAX AVENUE, STUDIO 12/31/00
CITY, CA 91604 97,222,712.
JACQUELINE AUTRY 4383 COLFAX AVENUE, STUDIO 12/31/00
CITY, CA 91604 1,704,684.
COLT COLLECTORS P. O. BOX 4667, VENTURA, CA 11/22/00
ASSOCIATION 93007 10,300.
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 500 w. TEMPLE STREET, LOS 05/02/00
ANGELES, CA 90012 10,000.
MR. & MRS. WILLIAM EATON 3964 SALVADOR COURT 10/16/00 12,600.
EBENSTEINER CO. 5311 DERRY AVE., SUITE 1, 10/16/00
AGOURA, CA 91301 5,000.

STATEMENT(S) 1



EXHIBIT D
AUTRY MUSEUM DECEMBER 31, 2006 FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS
A REPORT ADDRESSING CERTAIN FINANCIAL ISSUES PERTAINING TO
THE 2003 MERGER BETWEEN THE AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE
AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM
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| PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
35G South Grand Avenue

Los Angeles CA 90071
Telephone 1213) 356 6000
Facsimie (813} 637 4444

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of
The Autry National Center

In our opinion, the accompanying statements of financial position and the related statements of
activities and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Autry
Nationa! Center (the “Center”) at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the changes in its net assets and
its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Center's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

MWW LLP

March 30, 2007




Autry National Center
Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2006 and 2005

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Pledges and grants receivables, net (Note 3)
Investments

Cash restricted for capital acquisition and construction

Fixed assets at cost
Buildings and improvements
Furniture, equipment and other
Less accumlated depreciation and amortization

Fixed assets, net

Other assets
Land lease contribution receivable (Note 7})

Total assets
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities

Accounts payable
Accrued liabilites

Total liabilities

Net assets (Note 8)
Available for operations
Net investment in fixed assets
Board designated

Total unrestricted

Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

“’ 103,312,211

2005

4,266,861

100,950,645
6,960,165 6,579,047
4,895,897 3,112,974

37,404,768 37,334,768

2,952 455 2,938,502
40,357,223 40,273,270
(20,644,098) (19,583,343)
19,713,125 20,689,927

308,334 y

10,212,762 10,553,190

$ 146,795,376 147 675410
3 918,153 1,022,631
822,237 672,638

1,740,390 1,695,269

1,451,022 1,404,356
19,713,125 20,689,927

610,000 510,000

21,774,147 22,704,283
89,724,440 89,647,274
33,556,399 33,628,584

145,054 986 145,980,141

5 146,795,376 147 675,410

See accompanying netes to financial statements.
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Autry National Center
Statements of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

2006 2005
Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets {925,155) 1,853,943
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided by
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 1,060,755 1,115,945
Amortization of land lease recevable 340,428 340,426
Amortization of long-term pledges receivable (3,248,381) (4,489,916)
Contributions receivable wrnte-offs - 37,300
Realized and unrealized gains on investments, net (389,833) (168,613)
Contributions restncted for long-term purposes (25,000} {3,000)
Contributions restricted for capital acquisit:on and construction (3.756.772) {3,520,420)
Contributed securities & other non cash contributions (471,938) (316,105)
Changes in operating assets and liabilies
Pledge and grant receivables s— 886,815 6,351,943
Accounts recevable \ )
Inventories, net (46,225) {126,494)
Prepaid expenses -—= 404,773 (433,583)
Other assets (308,334) -
Accounts payable (104,478) 87,696
Accrued liabilities ~ ——"" 149,599 (218,958)
Net cash used in operating activities Y (6,472228) 584,062
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of fixed assets (83,953) (69,559)
Purchases of investments (13,370,782) (1,638,711}
Proceeds from sales of investments and other assets 13,851,435 1,899,022
Net cash used in investing activities \d 396,700 190,752
Cash flows from financing activities .
Contributions restricted for long-term purposes \« - 23,830
Contributions restricted for capital acquisition and construction 1,698,849 1,488,170
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,998,849 1,512,000
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4,076,679) 2,286,814
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 4,266,861 1,980,047
Cash and cash eguwalents, end of year $ 190,182 4,266,861

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Autry National Center
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2006 and 2005

1. Organization

In May 2003, the Autry National Center of the American West (the Center — A California
Nonprofit, public benefit corporation) was created through the merger of the Autry Museum of
Western Heritage, founded in 1984, and the Southwest Museum, founded in 1914 {see Note 9.
The Center now cperates the Southwest Museum of the American Indian, the Museum of the
American West (formerly known as the Autry Museum of Western Heritage), and the Institute for
the Study of the American West. The Center explores the experiences and perceptions of the
diverse peoples of the American West, connecling the past and present to inform cur shared
future, promoting education through prcgramming, exhibitions, and preservation of the
collections.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.

Net Assets

The Center recognizes centributions, including unconditional promises to give, as revenue in the
period received. Revenues, gains, expenses, and losses are classified based on the existence or
absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Center and changes
therein are classified and reported as follows:

« Unrestricted net assets — Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and
that may be expendable for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the Center,

» Temporarily restricted net assets — Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that
may or will be met either by actions of the Center and/or the passage of time. As the
restrictions are satisfied, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net
assets and reported in the accompanying financial statements as net assets released from
restrictions.

s Permanently restricted net assets — Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that
resources be maintained in perpetuity, the earnings from which are available for the Center's
use unless otherwise stipulated by the donor.

Classification of Revenues and Expenses
Center's admissions revenues are recognized upon the sale of admission tickets.

Revenues from the Museum store reflect sales from the stores, mail order, and wholesale
distribution activities, net of costs of goods sold. Museum stores costs and expenses include
related salaries, wages and fringe benefits, and general and administrative expenses incurred in
the operations of the Museum stores.

Special events revenues reflect event fees and contributions received for special events and
fundraising activities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include investments in money market funds with an original maturity
of less than 90 days.
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Autry National Center
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2006 and 2005

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents {Continued)

The significant decrease in cash and cash equivalents is due in part to the timing of receipt of
cash related to a number of significant contributions. In addition, the Center incurred expenditures
related to capital campaign activity for which the related revenue was recognized in previous
periods.

Investments

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable market values and all investments in
debt securities are recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the average-cost method, which
approximates the first-in, first-out method. Inventories are held for resale, mail order, and
wholesale distribution.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are 40 years for building and improvements, 5
years for furniture and equipment, and 3 years for computer equipment. Gifts of long-lived assets
such as property and equipment are reported as unrestricted support, unless explicit donor
stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit
restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must
be used to acquire long-lived assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor
stipulations about how long those long-lived assets must be maintained, and expirations of donor
restrictions are reported when the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in service.

Collection of Museum Objects

The Center's collections are comprised of works of art (paintings, works on paper, and
photographs), historic artifacts, archaeological and ethnographic materials, scund recordings,
films, and library and research material related to the history of the West and indigenous cuitures
of the United States. The collections, which were acquired through purchases and contributions
since the Center's inception, are not recognized as assets on the statement of financial position.
All are held for educational, research, and display purposes. Each of the items is cataloged,
preserved, and cared for according to the American Association of Museums standards.
Activities verifying their existence and assessing their condition are performed continuously.

Proceeds from deaccessions or insurance recoveries are reflected as increases in the
appropriate net asset classes. The collections are subject to a policy that requires proceeds from
their sales to be used to acquire or conserve other items for collections, not for operations.

Contributions Received

Contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are recognized as support in the year
received at net present vaiue.
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Autry National Center
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2006 and 2005

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

Contributions Received (Continued)

Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected or paid in future years are
discounted at the appropriate rate commensurate with the risk involved. Contributions received
and made are recorded at present value using a discount rates ranging from 4% to 6.48% for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. Amortization of the discount on contributions
received is recorded as additional contribution revenue in the temporary restricted fund.

Conditional promises to give that are contingent upon future events or future matching are not
recorded until the contingency has been satisfied. f funds are received from such gifts, they are
recorded as refundable advances until the contingency is satisfied. When the contingency has
been satisfied, the gift is recognized as either unrestricted or tempaorarily restricted revenue
depending on the intent of the donor. On January 1, 2003, the Center received a conditional
promise from the State of California — Department of Parks and Recreation for $700,000, which
must be utilized by December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2006, the conditions of the grant
were not satisfied, and as such, the promise to give is not recorded in the accompanying financial
statements. The activities to satisfy the conditions are scheduled for 2007.

Additionally, the Center received a conditional $25 million promise from a related party to be
restricted for endowment purposes. As of DecembéraT, € related party had not signed
off on the satisfaction of the conditions, and as such, the promise to give is not recorded in the
accompanying financial statements.

Special event contributions are generally reported as increases in unrestricted net assets.
However, if the circumstances surrounding the receipt of such contributions make clear the
respective donor's implicit restrictions on use, such amounts are classified as increases in
temporarily restricted net assets. Special event contributions for an event in a future year are
reported as increases in temporarily restricted net assets, and released in the future year,
attributable to that event.

Spending Policy

Autry National Center has an investment and spending policy for its board designated and donor
designated endowment funds. The purpose of the policy is to preserve principal, maintain
purchasing power and provide a reliable stream of income for operations. The amount distributed
to operations annually ranges from 4.5% to 5.5% of the average market value of the endowment
fund assets over the trailing eight quarters ended June 30 for the following fiscal year. The 2006
distribution approximates 5.0% based on this formuta, and is the second time funds have been
distributed from the endowments.

Income Taxes

The Center is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501{c){3) of the Internal Revenue
Code and exempt from California state franchise/income tax under Section 23701d of the
California Revenue and Taxation Code.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

Expenses that can be identified with a specific program or supporting service are charged directly
to the related program or supporting service. Expenses that are associated with more than one
program or supporting service are allocated based on an evaluation from management.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2006 and 2005

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Concentration of Risks

The Center holds a majority of its cash and cash equivalents at a few financial institutions Cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and money market accounts. The Center is
exposed to credit loss for the amount of cash in excess of the federally insured limit of $100,000
in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the
Center had cash in banks in excess of Federal Depaosit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance
limits of approximately and $4,986,000 and $7,292,000, respectively.

Pledges receivable and accounts recetvable are uncollateralized and the Center is at risk to the
extent such amounts become uncollectible. Additionally, approximately 96% of net pledges
receivable are due from one individual and a related foundation and the Center is subject to credit
risk in the event of nonperformance by such parties.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and

the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.

3 Pledges and Grant Receivables

Pledges and grants receivable are expected to be collected as follows at December 31 {see
Note 5 for pledges made by a related party):

2006 2005
Amounts due in
Less than one year 3 8,661,981 $ 7,020,944
One to five years 26,581,651 26,059,503
More than five years 187,240,000 190,290,000
222,483,632 223,370,447

Less discount to reflect contributions

receivable at present vaiue (119,171,421) {122,419 802)

$ 103,312,211 $ 100,950,645
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Investments

The fair value of the Center's investments consisted of the following at December 31:

2008 2005
Money market 3 467 665 $ 379,078
U.S. Treasury and agency securities - 751,716
Corporate bonds 986,805 726,104
Common stocks 5,495 695 4,722,149

3 6,960,165 $ 6,679,047

Related Party Transactions

On March 24, 2000, the Center received pledges of an annual contribution totaling $6,000,000
per year, and a long-term capital contribution totaling $100,000,000 for its endowment from a
related party. On May 16, 2002, the Center received ancther pledge from the related party of an
annual contribution of $50,000 for a curatorial position. The annual contributions will continue
until the donor’s passing and the long-term capital contribution will be received upon the donor's
passing.

The present value of the annual income and long-term capital contribution was approximately
$97,120,523 and $97,041,513 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The present
value was determined using a discount rate of 5% and life expectancy tables used by the Internal
Revenue Service. The Center received $5,296,500 and $7,450,000 from the related party during
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Retirement Plan

The Center has a tax-sheltered annuity, a defined contribution retirement plan (the Plan) for
eligible employees of the Center. Under the Plan, each eligible employee can make voluntary
tax-deductible contributions that the Center can match, at the discretion of the board of directors,
up to a maximum of 5% in 2003 of the employee's eligible compensation. The Center contributed
$215,834 and $196,660 to the Plan in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Matters

In the ordinary course of business, the Center is subject to certain lawsuits and other potential
legal actions. In the opinion of management, such matters will not have a material effect on the
financial position of the Center.
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December 31, 2006 and 2005

7. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

Leases

The Center leases equipment under non-cancelable operating lease agreements expiring at
various dates through March 2008. The estimated future minimum rental payments under these
leases are as follows at December 31:

2006 2005
2006 $ - $ 10,564
2007 10,564 10,564
2008 10,564 10,564
2009 10,564 10,564
$ 31,692 $ 42,256

Line of Credit

On December 15, 2003, the Center established a $2 million revolving, partially collateralized line
of credit with a bank. The line of credit bears interest at the prime rate or LIBOR (1, 3, or 6
months) plus 2.25%. This line of credit expires on January 1, 2008, at which time any advances

outstanding are due and payable There were no amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2006
or 2005 under this agreement.

Other Assets

in December 2005, the Center entered into a collection sharing agreement with ancther non-profit
entity. Under the terms of the agreement, the Center collaborates to provide a long-term
presence of a historically significant coilection of paintings and costumes at the Autry National
Center’s facilities. The term of the agreement is 60 years with provisions for extension.

Payments will be made every year for a 15 year period. The first payment was paid in 2006, and
the payments will be amortized over the term of the lease.

Land Lease

In 1987, the Center entered into a fifty year land lease with the City of Los Angeles for its Griffith
Park premises, including open space known as the “South Lawn.” In exchange for offering public
programming in the museum's facilities, the Autry National Center pays the City $1 per year. The
value of the land lease is capitalized at its estimated fair value. The value of the lease as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $10,212,762 and $10,553,190, respectively. The center
incurs in-kind lease expense of $340,426 annually, and recognizes an offsetting in-kind donation
released from restriction of the same amount.

8. Net Assets
Unrestricted — Board Designated

The Board of Trustees has established a reserve totaling $610,000 consisting of unrestricted
cash available for the Library Research Center.

10
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December 31, 2006 and 2005

Net Assets (Continued)

Temporarily Restricted

Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes:

2006 2005
Exhibitions, Programs & Education 865,684 411,317
Comprehensive Campaign — Autry National Center 8,645,984 7.959,410
Conservation, Collections, Public Access, Library,

Publications, etc. 3,092,553 1,667,258
Artifacts/Acquisitions 55,014 15,503
Waomen of the West, Curatorial Position 858,000 858,000
Wamen of the West, Butcher Scholarship Program 100,127 100,127
Women of the West, Capital Campaign 973 973
Electronic Cataloguing Initiative Project - 100,000
Masters Art Exhibition & Sales 172,224 209,035
Time Restrictions 75,833,869 78,325 651

89,724,438 89,647,274

Permanently Restricted

Permanently restricted net assets totaling $33,556,399 in 2006 and $32,628,584 in 2005 (aof
which $29,260,416 and $29,360,716 are pledges outstanding as of December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively) are restricted by donors for investment in perpetuity, the earnings from which
are either available for general operating purposes or temporarily restricted for exhibits and

programs.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
350 South Grand Avenue

Los Angeles CA 90071
Telephone (213} 356 6000
Facsimile (813) 637 4444

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of
The Autry National Center

In our opinion, the accompanying statement of financial position and the related statemnents of activities
and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Autry Nationaf
Center (the “Autry™) at December 31, 2005, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Autry’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinton on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion. The prior year comparative information has been derived from the financial
statements of the Autry as of December 31, 2004 and for the year then ended, which were audited by
other auditors whose report dated April 20, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion.

MMM LLP

April 7, 2006




Autry National Center
Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2005 and 2004

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Pledges and grants receivables, net (Note 3)
Investments (Note 4)
Cash restricted for capital acquisition and construction
Fixed assets, at cost:
Building and improvements
Furniture, equipment, and other
Construction in process

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Fixed assets, net

Land lease contribution receivable (Note 7)

Collection of museum objects (Note 2)
Total assets

Liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities
Tota! liabilities

Net assets (Note 8):
Unrestricted:
Available for operations
Net investment in fixed assets
Board designated

Total unrestricted
‘Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2005 2004
$ 4266861 5 1,980,047
50,492 124,390
901,096 774,602
571,178 137,595
100,950,645/ 99,989,546
> 6,579,047 6,531,620
3,112,974 3,785,000
37,334,768 37,275,453
2,938,502 2,920,336
- 20,371
40,273,270 40,216,160

{19,583,343)

(18,479,847)

20,685,927

21,736,313

10,553,190

10,893,616

$ 147,675,410

$145,952,729

$ 1,022,631 934,935
672,638 891,596
1,695,269 1,826,531
1,404,356 693,637
20,689,927 21,736,313
610,000 610,000
22,704,283 23,039,950
89,647,274 88,832,124
33,628,584 32,254,124
145,980,141 144,126,198

3 147,675,410

$145,952,729

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Autry National Center
Statements of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of land lease receivable
Armortization pledges receivable
Contributions receivable write-offs
Realized and unrealized gains on investments, net
Contributions restricted for long-term purposes
Contributions restricted for capital acquisition and construction
Contributed securities and other noncash contributions )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Pledge and grant receivables
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of fixed assets
Purchases of investments ()
Proceeds from sales of investments and other assets ()
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Contributions restricted for long-term purposes
Contributions restricted for capital acquisition and construction
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

2005 2004
$ 1,853,943 $ 3635473
1,115,945 1,131,838
340,426 340,426
(4,489.916)  (1,323,869)
37,300 ~ 800
(168,613) - (126,247)
(3,000) (150,820)
(3.520,420)  (4,600,000)
(316,105) -
6,351,943  (2,198,012)
- 73,898 43,393
(126,494) (68,531)
(433,583) 12,728
87,696 235,416
(218,958) (67,968)
584,062 (3.135,373)
(69,559) (72,263)
(1,638,711)  (1,946,981)
. 1,899,022 2,677,067
190,752 657,823
23,830 42,630
1,488,170 2,285,000
1,512,000 2,327,630
2,286,814 (149,920)
1,980,047 2,129,967
$ 4266861 $ 1.080,047

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Autry National Center

Notes to Financial Statements

L

Organization

In May 2003, the Autry National Center of the American West (the Autry — A California Nonprofit,
public benefit corporation) was created through the merger of the Autry Museum of Western
Heritage, founded in 1984, and the Southwest Museum, founded in 1914, The Autry now operates
the Southwest Museum of the American Indian, the Museum of the American West (formerly known
as the Autry Museum of Western Heritage), and the Institute for the Study of the American West.
The Autry explores the experiences and perceptions of the diverse peoples of the American West,
connecting the past and present to inform our shared future, promoting education through
programming, exhibitions, and preservation of the collections.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.

Net Assets
The Autry recognizes contributions, including unconditional promises to give, as revenue in the
period received. Revenues, gains, expenses, and losses are classified based on the existence or

absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Autry and changes therein are
classified and reported as follows:

o Unrestricted net assets — Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and that
may be expendable for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the Autry.

e Temporarily restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may or
will be met either by actions of the Autry and/or the passage of time. As the restrictions are
satisfied, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported
in the accomparnying financial statements as net assets released from restrictions.

s Permanently restricted net assets — Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that
resources be maintained in perpetuity, the earnings from which are available for the Autry’s use
unless otherwise stipulated by the donor.

Classification of Revenues and Expenses
Autry’s admissions revenues are recognized upon the sale of admission tickets.

Revenues from the Museum stores reflect sales from the stores, mail order, and wholesale
distribution activities, net of costs of goods sold. Museum stores costs and expenses include related

salaries, wages and fringe benefits, and general and administrative expenses incurred in the
operations of the Museum stores.

Special events revenues reflect event fees and contributions received for special events and
fundraising activities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit and investments in money market funds with an
original maturity of less than 90 days.




Autry National Center

Notes to Financial Statements

Investments
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable market values and all investments in debt
securities are recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the average-cost method, which
approximates the first-in, first-out method. Inventories are held for resale, mail order, and wholesale
distribution.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which are 40 years for building and improvements, 5 years for
furniture and equipment, and 3 years for computer equipment. Gifts of long-lived assets such as
property and equipment are reported as unrestricted support, unless explicit donor stipulations
specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit restrictions that
specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire
long-lived assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how
long those long-lived assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when
the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in service.

Collection of Museum Objects

The Autry’s collections are comprised of works of art (paintings, works on paper, and photographs),
historic artifacts, archaeological and ethnographic materials, sound recordings, films, and library and
research material related to the history of the West and indigenous cultures of the United States. The
collections, which were acquired through purchases and contributions since the Autry’s inception, are
not recognized as assets on the statement of financial position. All are held for educational,
research, and display purposes. Each of the iterns is cataloged, preserved, and cared for according to
the American Association of Museums standards. Activities verifying their existence and assessing
their condition are performed continuously.

Proceeds from deaccessions or insurance recoveries are reflected as increases in the appropriate net
asset classes. The coliections are subject to a policy that requires proceeds from their sales to be used
to acquire or conserve other items for collections, not for operations.

Contributions Received
Contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are recognized as support in the year
received at net present value.

Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected or paid in future years are
discounted at the appropriate rate commensurate with the risk involved. Contributions received and
made are recorded at present value using discount rates ranging from 4% to 6.48% for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. Amortization of the discount on contributions received is
recorded as additional contribution revenue.

Conditional promises to give that are contingent upon future events or future matching are not
recorded until the contingency has been satisfied. If funds are received from such gifts, they are
recorded as refundable advances until the contingency is satisfied. When the contingency has been
satisfied. the gift is recognized as either unrestricted or temporarily restricted revenue depending on
the intent of the donor.




; Autry National Center

Notes to Financial Statements

Special event contributions are generally reported as increases in unrestricted net assets. However, if
the circumstances surrounding the receipt of such contributions make clear the respective donor’s
implicit restrictions on use, such amounts are classified as increases in temporarily restricted net
assets. Special event contributions for an event in a future year are reported as increases in
temporarily restricted net assets, and released in the future year, attributable to that event.

Spending Policy

The Autry has an investment and spending policy for its board designated and donor designated
endowment funds. The purpose of the policy is to preserve principal, maintain purchasing power and
provide a reliable stream of income for operations. The amount distributed to operations annually
ranges from 4.5% to 5.5% of the average market value of the endowment fund assets over the trailing
eight quarters ended June 30 for the coming fiscal year. The 2005 distribution approximates 5.0%
based on this formula, and is the first time funds have been distributed from the endowments.

Income Taxes

The Autry is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(¢)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code
and exempt from California state franchise/income tax under Section 23701d of the California
Revenue and Taxation Code.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

Expenses that can be identified with a specific program or supporting service are charged directly to
the related program or supporting service. Expenses that are associated with more than one program
or supporting service are allocated based on an evaluation from management.

Concentration of Risks

The Autry holds a majority of its cash and cash equivalents at a few financial institutions. Cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and money market accounts. The Autry is exposed to
credit loss for the amount of cash in excess of the federally insured limit of $100,000 in the event of
nonperformance by the counterparties. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Autry had cash in banks
in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limits of approximately and
$7,292,000 and $5,547,000 respectively.

Pledges receivable and accounts receivable are uncollateralized and the Autry is at risk to the extent
such amounts become uncollectible. Additionally, approximately $6% of net pledges receivable are
due from one individual and a related foundation and the Autry is subject to credit risk in the event of
nonperformance by such parties.

Estimates

The preparation of financtal statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Actual results may differ from those
estimates,




Autry National Center

Notes to Financial Statements

3. Pledges and Grants Receivables

Pledges and grants receivable are expected to be collected as follows at December 31(see note 5 for
pledges made by a related party):

2005 2004
Amounts due in:
Less than one year § 7,020,944 § 7,615,764
One to five years 26,059,503 23,849,000
More than five years 190,290,000 193,434,500

223,370,447 226,899,264
L.ess discount to reflect contributions receivable at
present value (122,419,802)  (126,909,718)
$100,950,645 %-99,989,546

4, Investments

The fair value of the Autry’s investments at December 31 is as follows:

2005 2004
Money market funds 3 379078 % 396,112
U.S. Treasury and agency securities 751,716 1,329,341
Corporate bonds 726,104 407,003
Common stocks 4,722,149 4,399,164

§ 6,579,047 § 6,531,620

Related Party Transactions

On March 24, 2000, the Autry received pledges of an annual contribution totaling $6,000,000 per
year, and a long-term capital contribution totaling $ 100,000,000 for its endowment from related

parties. On May 16, 2002, the Autry received another pledge from the related party of an annual
contribution of $50,000 for a curatorial position. The annual contributions will continue until the
donor’s passing and the long-term capital contribution will be received upon the donor’s passing.

The present value of the annual income and long-term capital contribution was approximately
£97,041,513 and $96,963,569 as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 respectively. The present value
was determined using discount rates ranging from 5% to 6.42% and life expectancy tables published
by the Internal Revenue Service. The Autry received $7,450,000 and $6,152,100 from the related
party during the years ended December 31, 20035 and 2004 respectively.

6. Retirement Plan

The Autry has a tax-sheltered annuity retirement plan (the Plan) for eligible employees of the Autry.
Under the Plan, each eligible employee can make voluntary tax-deductible contributions that the
Autry can match, at the discretion of the board of directors, up to a maximum of 5% of the

employee’s eligible compensation. The Autry contributed $196,660 and $178,972 to the Plan in
2005 and 2004 respectively.

AXEEAAARERAREARLALE




Autry National Center
Notes to Financial Statements

7.

Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Matters

In the ordinary course of business, the Autry is subject to certain lawsuits and other potential legal
actions. In the opinion of management, such matters will not have a material effect on the financial
position of the Autry.

Leases

The Autry leases equipment under noncancelable operating lease agreements expiring at various
dates through March 2009. The estitnated future minimum rental payments under these leases are as
follows at December 31, 2005:

2006 $ 10,564
2007 10,564
2008 10,564
2009 10,564

$ 42,256

Operating lease expense totaled $19,109 and $28,281 for the year ended December 31, 2005 and
2004 respectively.

Line of Credit

On December 15, 2003, the Autry established a $2 million revolving partially collateralized line of
credit with a bank. The line of credit bears interest at the prime rate or LIBOR (1, 3, or 6 months)
plus 2.25%. This line of credit expires on January 1, 2007, at which time any advances outstanding

are due and payable. There were no amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2005 or 2004 under
this agreement.

California Historical Society

In December 20035, the Autry entered into a collection sharing agreement with the California
Historical Society. Under the terms of the agreement, the Autry collaborates to provide a long-term
presence of the Society’s historically significant collection of paintings and costumes at the Autry
National Center’s facilities. The term of the agreement is 60 years with provisions for extension.

Land Lease

In 1987, the Autry National Center entered into a land lease with the City of Los Angeles for its
Griffith Park premises, including open space known as the “South Lawn.” In exchange for offering
public programming in the museum’s facilities, the Autry National Center pays the City $1 per year.
The value of the land lease is capitalized at its estimated fair value. The value of the lease as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $10,553,190 and $10,893,616, respectively. The organization

incurs in-kind lease expense of $340,426 annually, and recognizes an offsetting in-kind donation
released from restriction of the same amount.




Autry National Center

Notes to Financial Statements

8. Net Assets

Unrestricted — Board Designated
The board of directors has established a reserve totaling $610,000 consisting of unrestricted cash
available for the Library Research Center.

Temporarily Restricted
Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes:

2005 2004
Exhibitions, Programs & Education $ 411,317 § 922,437
Capital Campaign - Autry National Center 7,959,410 4,229,085
Conservation, Collections, Public Access,

Library, Publications, etc. 1,667,258 2,306,900
Artifacts/Acquisitions 15,505 31,429
Women of the West, Curatorial Position 858,000 858,000
Women of the West, Butcher Scholarship Program 100,127 100,127
Women of the West, Capital Campaign 973 973
Electronic Cataloguing Initiative Project 100,000 235,000
Masters Art Exhibition & Sales 209,035 189,505
Time Restrictions 78,325,651 79,958,268

$89,647,274  $88,832,124

Permanently Restricted

Permanently restricted net assets totaling and $33,628,584 in 2005 and $32,254,124 in 2004 (of
which $29,356,546 and $28,036,916 are pledges outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 2004
respectively) are restricted by donors for investment in perpetuity, the eamings from which are either
available for general operating purposes or temporarily restricted for exhibits and programs.
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1999 Avenue of the Stars
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TELEPHONE (310) 553-6700
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Ms. Adrienne Watts
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Re:  Autry Museum

Dear Ms. Watts:
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170,445-558
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deartwright@omm.com

As we discussed today over the phone, [ am enclosing the following documents:
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Autry Museum’s Articles of Incorporation;

Women of the West Museum’s Articles of Incorporation.

Very truly yours,
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avid W. Cartwright
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Te the Board of Directors of the Autry Museumn of
Western Hentage:

We have audited the accompanying statements af
financial posiion of the Aulry Museun of Western
Heritage (“the Museun”) (a Caliormia nonprofit
public benefit corporation) as of December 31, 2000
and 1994, and the related statements of activibes and
cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Museum's
management. Our resporsibility is to express an opinion
on these financal statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditng standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audil to obtain reasonable assurance
aboul whether the linancal statements are {ree ol
material misstatement. An audit mcludes exarmining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures it the inancial staterments, An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates rmade by management, as well as
evalualing the overall inancial statement presentalion.
We beheve that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opiron.

In our opinion, the linancal stalerments referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Autry Museum of Western
Herilage as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the

changes in ils net assels and its cash flows for the

vears then ended in conformity with accounting

principles generaily accepted in the United States.




ASSETS

Currem assets.

Cash and equivaients %1976 376
Current portion of pledge and grant receivables 6,470,279
Accounts receivable 62,218
Inveniories, net 437582
Prepaid expenses 94,436
Total current assets 5,040,891
Investments 1.016.44%
Pledge and grant recevables, net 21,369.899

Fixed assets, al cost

Building and improvements 34418,040
Furniture and equipment 2724410
37,142,450

Less - Accumulated depreciation and amortizalion (12,589.651)
Net fixed assets 24,552,799
Collection of museurn abjects 30,223,201
Library assets 1,846,120
Other assets 9,389

FI58048,748

61,684,620

$1.274.246
141,938
201,094
546,793
182,547

2346618
2,295,601

127570

34418040
2,789.297

37207337
(11.820.814)
25386523
29,654,340

1.873.968




LIABILITIES AND NET_I:\SSETS .

Current iabilitie:

Accrued habihitie:
Total labihitier

MNet assets:
Unrestricted
Ternporanly restricted

Permanently 1esticted

648,046

o8040

59.310.962
66,092.6/6
31,997,064

157 400,702

§.158,048,748

3494.046

494,046

58.189.719
2,209,824
491,030

61,190,574

$61,684.620




Statements of Activities
t Frder] ! i ¥
_____ _ - . i SO L
Changes in unrestricted net assets:
Contributions
unrestncied cash and services 15,984,477 $5,316,343
Revenue, gains, and other support:
Memberships 486,416 410,174
Admissions 533,001 589,588 i
Imterest 89,393 39.875
Royalties 23,698 37,004
Revenues from special events 1,868,720 1,634,014
Revenues from museum store 988,329 997807
Gain on sale of assels 92215 10,289
Net unreahzed gain on investments - 233626
Dividend income 15,903 25,759
Other 37,282 110,440
4,134.957 4,088,576
Net assets released from restrictions
Satisfaction of program restrictions 4,450,620 3430,532
Total unrestricted revenues, gaine, and other suppaort ]4,5?(}.01:4 l2.855"1.5-l
Expenses:
Salaries, wages, and fringe benefits 4,193,245 4,042,081
General and administrative 6.516,788 6146431
Costs and expenses ol special events 1587963 1,205,656
Costs and expenses of museurn store, ncluding 932,698 973978
provision for exces: and obsolete nventory of !
$H11.677 i 2000 and $22,979 in 1999 i
MNet loss from restaurant operations 46,619 34,242 ,i
Lass on sale of Fred Rosenstock Collection 55.854 280,200
Unrealized loss on sale of investments 415.644 i
Total unrestricled expenses . 13.,;;48,8\ | 1]23@ {

Increase in unrestricled net assels $821.243 $152.863




Changes in temporanty restricled net assets.

Contnibutions:

Cashiand cash pledge

Donated it arl wer e

MNet assets released hom e

Chon:
Increase i temporartly restncted net assets

Chang

© e permanently restiiclied nel assets,
Contributions:
Cash and cash pledges  endowment fund

Cash and cash pledges — tle campaign

Increase n prrmanently reshnicted net iy

Increase n net as

Net assets, beainning of yeas

Net assets, end of year

P65 110,384
1223087
1,450,620)

61882851

3461874
38,160

11,506,034

96,210,128
61,190,574

$157400.70%

$543,272
4488,025
(34305

491,030

491,030

2,244,658

LE945 96

b6l 190,579




2000

Cash fiows rom operating aclivibies:
Increase in net assets 196,210.12¢
Adjustments 1o reconcile ncrease i nel assels

Lo net cash (used in) provided by operating

Noncash contribution:

Noncash conttbaton: special events

Depreciaton and amortization LUs 2691

Lease expense donated v, 11 20,980

MNet Joss (gan) on ciles of (36,607
secarilies mvestments and other anaet:

hverntory reser ves, net 95,010

Loss on dispoation of fied aels 12436

Changes in assets and habilities:
Pledge and grant recervables. net (97.570,6/0)
Accounts receivable 138.870
Inventore:, ne 59,108
Prepaid expenses HB.11 1
Other assels (9.389)
Accrued habihities 154,000

Blet cash ced ing prowded by opetating actnaties (2.0eh

Casty flowe from nvesting acliities,
Prrchases of fixed asset,
Feetrements of fixed ag e
Purchases of rauseun colie o
Purchases of dry asuel (57505
Purchases of inve<tment {226,204
Prowoed: from i Shanveclinents and othey i 2997394

ey PSS {paind trimwes ents 414,644

Hel casl uge

MNet e rease in cash and ¢ juialen

Cashoand coptyalent ,I.f-g-uuwg.* [SUNCERT

Tl and eepiealents, endg o

1999

32,244,658

(4.493,027)
{137.663)
1040300

20980

344822

22979

171,873
(129802}
3.498

(39.909)

{(/2464)

74,250

5l b4y
13076

1,306,289
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AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM




Publication 590 (2005), Individual Retirement Arrangements (IRAS)

F - -
mﬁm Internal Revenue Service

United States Department of the Treasury

Publication 590 - Additional Material

Table of Contents

® Appendices

Appendices

http://www.irs.gov/publications/p590/ar02.html

To help you complete your tax return, use the following appendices that include worksheets, sample forms, and tables.

1. Appendix A— Summary Record of Traditional IRA(s) for 2005 and Worksheet for Determining Required Minimum Distributions.

2. Appendix B — Worksheets you use if you receive social security benefits and are subject to the IRA deduction phaseout rules. A filled-in

example is included.

a. Worksheet 1, Computation of Modified AGI.

b. Worksheet 2, Computation of Traditional IRA Deduction for 2005.

c. Worksheet 3, Computation of Taxable Social Security Benefits.

d. Comprehensive Example and completed worksheets.

3. Appendix C — Life Expectancy Tables. These tables are included to assist you in computing your required minimum distribution amount

if you have not taken all your assets from all your traditional IRAs before age 70%.

a. Table I (Single Life Expectancy).

b. Table Il (Joint Life and Last Survivor Expectancy).

c. Table lll (Uniform Lifetime).

APPENDIX A. Summary Record of Traditional IRA(s) for 2005 (Keep for Your Records)

Name
| was o covered o not covered by my employer's retirement plan during
the year.
| became 59%2 on (month)
(day) (year)
| became 70% on (month)
(day) (year)
Contributions
Fair Market|
Value of
IRA as of
December
Check if | 31, 2005,
Name of Amount contributed rollover | from Form
traditional IRA Date for 2005 contribution 5498

QN[O WM

Total

1 of 22

11/29/2006 7:56 PM



Publication 590 (2005), Individual Retirement Arrangements (IRAS)

10 ([72.8 38 45.6
11 [71.8 39 44.6
12 [70.8 40 43.6
13 169.9 41 42.7
14 [68.9 42 41.7
15 [67.9 43 40.7
16 [66.9 44 39.8
17 [66.0 45 38.8
18 |65.0 46 37.9
19 [64.0 47 37.0
20 [63.0 48 36.0
21 |62.1 49 35.1
22 |61.1 50 34.2
23 160.1 51 33.3
24 159.1 52 32.3
25 |[58.2 53 314
26 |57.2 54 30.5
27 156.2 55 29.6

APPENDIX C. (Continued)

Table |

(Single Life Expectancy)

(For Use by Beneficiaries)

Age |Life Expectancy Age| Life Expectancy
56 [28.7 84 8.1
57 |27.9 85 7.6
58 [27.0 86 7.1
59 |26.1 87 6.7
60 (25.2 88 6.3
61 |24.4 89 5.9
62 |23.5 90 5.5
63 |22.7 91 5.2
64 |21.8 92 4.9
65 (21.0 93 4.6
66 (20.2 94 4.3
67 |19.4 95 4.1
68 |(18.6 96 3.8
69 |17.8 97 3.6
70 |17.0 98 34
71 (16.3 99 3.1
72 155 100 29
73 (14.8 101 2.7
74 1141 102 25
75 (134 103 2.3
76 |12.7 104 2.1
77 1121 105 1.9
78 |11.4 106 1.7
79 110.8 107 15
80 |10.2 108 14
81 |9.7 109 1.2
82 9.1 110 11
83 (8.6 111 and over 1.0

Appendix C. Life Expectancy Tables (Continued)

Table Il

(Joint Life and Last Survivor Expectancy)

(For Use by Owners Whose Spouses Are More Than 10 Years Younger

and Are the Sole Beneficiaries of their IRAs)

10 of 22

http://www.irs.gov/publications/p590/ar02.html

11/29/2006 7:56 PM



EXHIBIT H

LI1ST OF PROVIDED DOCUMENTS
A REPORT ADDRESSING CERTAIN FINANCIAL ISSUES PERTAINING TO
THE 2003 MERGER BETWEEN THE AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE
AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM




LIST OF PROVIDED DOCUMENTS

The following documents were provided by the Friends of the Southwest Museum to Jack
Siegel:

1. 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, & 2004 Forms 990-PF for the Autry
Foundation.

2. 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002 Forms 990 for the Southwest Museum,

3.1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, & 2006 Forms 990 and the 2000 Form
990PF for the Autry Western Heritage Museum and the Autry National Center of the American
West.

4. Autry National Center Merger Agreement and Accompanying Schedules.

5. Press Release, Autry National Center, Update, Apr. 25, 2006.

6. June 14, 2005 Letter to the Board of Directors of the Autry National Center
from the Mount Washington Homeowners Alliance.

7. May 16, 2005 Letter to the Board of Directors of the Autry National Center
from the Mount Washington Homeowners Alliance.

8. June 11, 2004 Letter to the Friends of the Southwest Museum from John L.
Grey of the Autry National Center.

8. Southwest Museum, Narrative Summary of the Collection, undated document
provided by the Friends.

9. ConsultEcon, Inc., Review of Southwest Museum Rehabilitation Evaluations,
March 5, 2005.

10. April 22, 2003 Letter to Nicole Possert from James M. Cordi, Supervising
Deputy Attorney General, State of California Department of Justice.

11. April 18, 2003 Letter to James M. Cordi, Supervising Deputy Attorney
General, State of California Department of Justice, from Nicole Possert.

12. Christopher Reynolds, Southwest Faces Major Repair Job, L.A. TIMES, Mar.
21, 2006.

13. Suzanne Muchnic, Autry Picks Texas Design Firm, L.A. TIMES, Mar. 7, 2005.

14. Christopher Reynolds, A Union of Cowboys and Indians, L.A. TIMES, Dec.
11, 2002.



Jack Siegel all reviewed the following documents:

15. Friends of the Southwest Museum Web site at
http://www.friendsofthesouthwestmuseum.com/ (selective review).

16. Autry National Center Web site at http://www.autry-museum.org/ (selective
review).

17. All Other Items Referred to in the Charity Governance Consulting/Jack Siegel Report.



EXHIBIT |
AUTRY FOUNDATION 2003 FORM 990-PF, PART 11,

BALANCE SHEET
A REPORT ADDRESSING CERTAIN FINANCIAL ISSUES PERTAINING TO
THE 2003 MERGER BETWEEN THE AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE
AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM




Return of Private Foundation

OMB No 1545-0052

Form 990-PF

Department of the Treasury
Intemal Revenue Service

or Section 4947(a)(1) Nonexempt Charitable Trust
Treated as a Private Foundation
Note: The organization may be able to use a copy of this return to satisfy state reporting requirements.
For calendar year 2003, or tax year beginning , and ending
G Check all that apply E] Initial return D Final return D Amended return
Use the IRS Name of organization
label.
otherwise, AUTRY FOUNDATION
print Number and street (or P O box number If mail 1s not delivered to street address)
S or ;vpe-", 4383 COLFAX AVENUE
Inesiru Eg;n: City or town, state, and ZIP code
STUDIO CITY, CA 91604
H Check type of orgamzation Section 501(c)(3) exempt private foundation
[_] Section 4947(a)(1) nonexempt charttable trust [ Other taxable private foundation
I Fair market value of all assets at end of year |J Accounting method D Cash Accrual
(from Part Il, col. (c), line 16) [:] Other (specify)
>3 17,244,443 .|(Part, column (d) must be on cash bass.)
| Part } ] Analysis of Revenue and Expenses

(The total of amounts in columns (b), (c), and (d) may not
necessarnly equal the amounts in column (a) )

1 Contnbutions, gifts, grants, etc , received
Check P> 1f the foundaton is not required to attach Sch B
2 Distnbutions from split-interest trusts

Interest on savings and temporary
3 cash investments

2003

[ Address change (] Name change
A Employer identification number

23-7433359
B Telephone number
(818)752-7770
C exemption application 1s pending, check here > D

D 1. Foreign organizations, check here »[ ]

2. Foreign organizations meeting the 85% test, S E]
check here and attach computation

Room/suite

E If pnvate foundation status was terminated
under section 507(b)(1)(A), check here ™[]

F If the foundation 1 in a 60-month termination
under section 507(b)(1)(B), check here  B>[ |

(ﬂ) Disbursements
(c) Algéuosrs,‘eed net for chantable purposes

(cash basis only)
N/A

(a) Revenue and
expenses per books

(b) Net investment
income

4 Dividends and interest from securities 882,123. 759,387.

5a Gross rents
b (Net rentat Income or (loss) )

6a Ir:lne; ggm or (loss) from sale of assets not on 7 , 8 7 5 .
D e 1,227,381,

7 Capital gain net income (from Part IV, line 2)

8 Net short-term capital gain

9 Income modifications
102 Gross sales less retums
and allowances

STATEMENT 1

Revenue

7,875.

ost of goods sold

SCANNED MY 25 200

425,814. 425,814.
1,315,812.] 1,193,076,
etc 0- O. O.

STATEMENT 2

COrv‘wu(nongf o&ce?&ﬂirto

ther employee salanes and

12,471. 12,471. 0.
600. 0. 0.

b Accounting fees
¢ Other professional fees

17 Interest

18 Taxes

19 Depreciation and depletion

20 Occupancy

21 Travel, conferences, and meetings
22 Pnnting and publications
23 Other expenses

24 Total operating and administrative
expenses. Add hnes 13 through 23
25 Contnbutions, gifts, grants paid

26 Total expenses and disbursements.
Add lines 24 and 25

Operating and Administrative Expenses

14,890.

122.

442,528.

442,528.

STMT 6

1,324.

1,324.

0.

471,813.

456,445.

0.

1,652,729.

1,652,729.

2,124,542,

456,445.

1,652,729.

27 Subtract hne 26 from line 12

a Excess of revenue over expenses and disbursements
b Net investment income (f negative, enter -0-)

¢ Adjusted net income (f negative, enter -0-)

<808,730.

736,631.

N/A

323501
12-05-03

LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the instructions.

Form 990-PF (2003)



Form 990-PF (2003)

AUTRY FOUNDATION

23-7433359

Page 2

Pa l’t l. B aI ance Sh eets Attached schedules and amounts In the descnption

cotumn should be for end-of-year amounts onty

Beginning of year

End of year

(a) Book Value

(b) Book Value

{c) Fair Market Value

Assets

1 Cash - non-interest-bearng
2 Savings and temporary cash investments
3 Accounts recevable P

13,880.

1,691.

1,691.

2,817,632.

3,220,282.

3,446,787.

9,373.

Less allowance for doubtful accounts P

644.

9,373.

4 Pledges recervable P

Less allowance for doubtful accounts P

5 Grants recevable

6 Receivables due from officers, directors, trustees, and other
disqualified persons

7  Other notes andloans receivable >

Less allowance for doubtful accounts P

8 Inventores for sale or use
9 Prepaid expenses and deferred charges
10a Investments - US and state government obligatons STMT 7
b Investments - corporate stock STMT 8
¢ Investments - corporate bonds STMT 9

696.

6,163.

6,163.

1,888,628.

1,168,508.

1,220,050.

2,215,823.

2,215,823.

3,330,113.

7,941,029.

7,423,362,

7,927,892.

11  Investments - land, buildings, and equipment basts >
| 4

Less accumulated depreciation

12 Investments - mortgage loans
13 Investments - other
14 Land, bulldings, and equipment basis P>

STMT 10

820,000.

820,000.

370,912.

1,159,584.

STMT 11»

Less accumulated depreciabion

651,452.

498,080.

508,132,

508,132.

15 Other assets {descnbe P

STATEMENT 12)

423,330.

423,330.

423,330.

16 Total assets (to be completed by all filers)

16,619,742,

15,796,664.

17,244,443.

Liabilities

17 Accounts payable and accrued expenses

18 Grants payable

19 Deferred revenue

20 Loans from officers, directors, trustees, and other disqualified persons
21 Mortgages and other notes payable

22 Other liabilities (describe P>

14,348.

23 Total liabilities (add lines 17 through 22)

14,348.

Net Assets or Fund Balances

Organizations that follow SFAS 117, check here > [ ]
and complete lines 24 through 26 and lines 30 and 31.
24 Unrestricted
25 Temporarly restricted
26 Permanently restricted
Organizations that do not follow SFAS 117, check here
and complete lines 27 through 31.
27 Capital stock, trust principal, or current funds
28 Paid-in or capital surplus, or land, bldg , and equipment fund
29 Retained earnings, accumulated income, endowment, or other funds
30 Total net assets or fund balances

> [X]

31 _Total habiliies and net assets/fund balances

0.

0.

O.

0.

16,605, 394.

15,796,664.

16,605,394.

15,796,664.

16,619,742.

15,796,664.

Part Ill | Analysis of Changes in Net Assets or Fund Balances

1

Total net assets or fund balances at beginning of year - Part I, column (a), line 30

(must agree with end-of-year figure reported on prior year's return)

16,605,394.

1
2 Enter amount from Part ), line 27a 2 <808,730.>
3 Other increases not included in ne 2 (temize) P> 3 0.
4 Addlines1,2,and 3 4 15,796,664.
5 Decreases not included in line 2 (itemize) P> 5 0.
6 Total net assets or fund balances at end of year (line 4 minus line 5) - Part |1, column (b), ine 30 6 15,796,664.

323511
12-05-03

Form 990-PF (2003)



Return of Private Foundation

OMB No 1545-0052

Form 990-PF

Department of the Treasury
Intemal Revenue Service

or Section 4947(a)(1) Nonexempt Charitable Trust
Treated as a Private Foundation
Note: The organization may be able to use a copy of this return to satisfy state reporting requirements.
For calendar year 2003, or tax year beginning , and ending
G Check all that apply E] Initial return D Final return D Amended return
Use the IRS Name of organization
label.
otherwise, AUTRY FOUNDATION
print Number and street (or P O box number If mail 1s not delivered to street address)
S or ;vpe-", 4383 COLFAX AVENUE
Inesiru Eg;n: City or town, state, and ZIP code
STUDIO CITY, CA 91604
H Check type of orgamzation Section 501(c)(3) exempt private foundation
[_] Section 4947(a)(1) nonexempt charttable trust [ Other taxable private foundation
I Fair market value of all assets at end of year |J Accounting method D Cash Accrual
(from Part Il, col. (c), line 16) [:] Other (specify)
>3 17,244,443 .|(Part, column (d) must be on cash bass.)
| Part } ] Analysis of Revenue and Expenses

(The total of amounts in columns (b), (c), and (d) may not
necessarnly equal the amounts in column (a) )

1 Contnbutions, gifts, grants, etc , received
Check P> 1f the foundaton is not required to attach Sch B
2 Distnbutions from split-interest trusts

Interest on savings and temporary
3 cash investments

2003

[ Address change (] Name change
A Employer identification number

23-7433359
B Telephone number
(818)752-7770
C exemption application 1s pending, check here > D

D 1. Foreign organizations, check here »[ ]

2. Foreign organizations meeting the 85% test, S E]
check here and attach computation

Room/suite

E If pnvate foundation status was terminated
under section 507(b)(1)(A), check here ™[]

F If the foundation 1 in a 60-month termination
under section 507(b)(1)(B), check here  B>[ |

(ﬂ) Disbursements
(c) Algéuosrs,‘eed net for chantable purposes

(cash basis only)
N/A

(a) Revenue and
expenses per books

(b) Net investment
income

4 Dividends and interest from securities 882,123. 759,387.

5a Gross rents
b (Net rentat Income or (loss) )

6a Ir:lne; ggm or (loss) from sale of assets not on 7 , 8 7 5 .
D e 1,227,381,

7 Capital gain net income (from Part IV, line 2)

8 Net short-term capital gain

9 Income modifications
102 Gross sales less retums
and allowances

STATEMENT 1

Revenue

7,875.

ost of goods sold

SCANNED MY 25 200

425,814. 425,814.
1,315,812.] 1,193,076,
etc 0- O. O.

STATEMENT 2

COrv‘wu(nongf o&ce?&ﬂirto

ther employee salanes and

12,471. 12,471. 0.
600. 0. 0.

b Accounting fees
¢ Other professional fees

17 Interest

18 Taxes

19 Depreciation and depletion

20 Occupancy

21 Travel, conferences, and meetings
22 Pnnting and publications
23 Other expenses

24 Total operating and administrative
expenses. Add hnes 13 through 23
25 Contnbutions, gifts, grants paid

26 Total expenses and disbursements.
Add lines 24 and 25

Operating and Administrative Expenses

14,890.

122.

442,528.

442,528.

STMT 6

1,324.

1,324.

0.

471,813.

456,445.

0.

1,652,729.

1,652,729.

2,124,542,

456,445.

1,652,729.

27 Subtract hne 26 from line 12

a Excess of revenue over expenses and disbursements
b Net investment income (f negative, enter -0-)

¢ Adjusted net income (f negative, enter -0-)

<808,730.

736,631.

N/A

323501
12-05-03

LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the instructions.

Form 990-PF (2003)



Form 990-PF (2003)

AUTRY FOUNDATION

23-7433359

Page 2

Pa l’t l. B aI ance Sh eets Attached schedules and amounts In the descnption

cotumn should be for end-of-year amounts onty

Beginning of year

End of year

(a) Book Value

(b) Book Value

{c) Fair Market Value

Assets

1 Cash - non-interest-bearng
2 Savings and temporary cash investments
3 Accounts recevable P

13,880.

1,691.

1,691.

2,817,632.

3,220,282.

3,446,787.

9,373.

Less allowance for doubtful accounts P

644.

9,373.

4 Pledges recervable P

Less allowance for doubtful accounts P

5 Grants recevable

6 Receivables due from officers, directors, trustees, and other
disqualified persons

7  Other notes andloans receivable >

Less allowance for doubtful accounts P

8 Inventores for sale or use
9 Prepaid expenses and deferred charges
10a Investments - US and state government obligatons STMT 7
b Investments - corporate stock STMT 8
¢ Investments - corporate bonds STMT 9

696.

6,163.

6,163.

1,888,628.

1,168,508.

1,220,050.

2,215,823.

2,215,823.

3,330,113.

7,941,029.

7,423,362,

7,927,892.

11  Investments - land, buildings, and equipment basts >
| 4

Less accumulated depreciation

12 Investments - mortgage loans
13 Investments - other
14 Land, bulldings, and equipment basis P>

STMT 10

820,000.

820,000.

370,912.

1,159,584.

STMT 11»

Less accumulated depreciabion

651,452.

498,080.

508,132,

508,132.

15 Other assets {descnbe P

STATEMENT 12)

423,330.

423,330.

423,330.

16 Total assets (to be completed by all filers)

16,619,742,

15,796,664.

17,244,443.

Liabilities

17 Accounts payable and accrued expenses

18 Grants payable

19 Deferred revenue

20 Loans from officers, directors, trustees, and other disqualified persons
21 Mortgages and other notes payable

22 Other liabilities (describe P>

14,348.

23 Total liabilities (add lines 17 through 22)

14,348.

Net Assets or Fund Balances

Organizations that follow SFAS 117, check here > [ ]
and complete lines 24 through 26 and lines 30 and 31.
24 Unrestricted
25 Temporarly restricted
26 Permanently restricted
Organizations that do not follow SFAS 117, check here
and complete lines 27 through 31.
27 Capital stock, trust principal, or current funds
28 Paid-in or capital surplus, or land, bldg , and equipment fund
29 Retained earnings, accumulated income, endowment, or other funds
30 Total net assets or fund balances

> [X]

31 _Total habiliies and net assets/fund balances

0.

0.

O.

0.

16,605, 394.

15,796,664.

16,605,394.

15,796,664.

16,619,742.

15,796,664.

Part Ill | Analysis of Changes in Net Assets or Fund Balances

1

Total net assets or fund balances at beginning of year - Part I, column (a), line 30

(must agree with end-of-year figure reported on prior year's return)

16,605,394.

1
2 Enter amount from Part ), line 27a 2 <808,730.>
3 Other increases not included in ne 2 (temize) P> 3 0.
4 Addlines1,2,and 3 4 15,796,664.
5 Decreases not included in line 2 (itemize) P> 5 0.
6 Total net assets or fund balances at end of year (line 4 minus line 5) - Part |1, column (b), ine 30 6 15,796,664.

323511
12-05-03

Form 990-PF (2003)



EXHIBIT J

INVESTMENT RETURNS AT 10%
A REPORT ADDRESSING CERTAIN FINANCIAL ISSUES PERTAINING TO
THE 2003 MERGER BETWEEN THE AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE
AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM




Year

O~NO O WNPE

NNNNREERERRERRERERREE
WNPFPOOWONOOUINWNRO

24

8.00%

$17,369,133
$18,758,664
$20,259,357
$21,880,105
$23,630,514
$25,520,955
$27,562,631
$29,767,642
$32,149,053
$34,720,977
$37,498,655
$40,498,548
$43,738,432
$47,237,506
$51,016,507
$55,097,827
$59,505,653
$64,266,106
$69,407,394
$74,959,986
$80,956,785
$87,433,327
$94,427,993
$101,982,233

10.00%

$17,369,133
$19,106,046
$21,016,651
$23,118,316
$25,430,148
$27,973,162
$30,770,479
$33,847,526
$37,232,279
$40,955,507
$45,051,058
$49,556,164
$54,511,780
$59,962,958
$65,959,254
$72,555,179
$79,810,697
$87,791,767
$96,570,943

INVESTMENT RETURNS

S & P 500

1926-2000

11.00%

$17,369,133
$19,279,738
$21,400,509
$23,754,565
$26,367,567
$29,267,999
$32,487,479
$36,061,102
$40,027,823
$44,430,884
$49,318,281
$54,743,292
$60,765,054
$67,449,210
$74,868,623
$83,104,171
$92,245,630
$102,392,649

12.00%

$17,369,133
$19,453,429
$21,787,840
$24,402,381
$27,330,667
$30,610,347
$34,283,589
$38,397,619
$43,005,334
$48,165,974
$53,945,891
$60,419,397
$67,669,725
$75,790,092
$84,884,903
$95,071,092

14.00%

$17,369,133
$19,800,812
$22,572,925
$25,733,135
$29,335,774
$33,442,782
$38,124,771
$43,462,239
$49,546,953
$56,483,526
$64,391,220
$73,405,991
$83,682,830
$95,398,426

16.00%

$17,369,133
$20,148,194
$23,371,905
$27,111,410
$31,449,236
$36,481,114
$42,318,092
$49,088,986
$56,943,224
$66,054,140
$76,622,803
$88,882,451
$103,103,643

18.00%

$17,369,133
$20,495,577
$24,184,781
$28,538,041
$33,674,889
$39,736,369
$46,888,915
$55,328,920
$65,288,125
$77,039,988
$90,907,186
$107,270,479



EXHIBIT K
COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE

AUTRY MUSEUM AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM
A REPORT ADDRESSING CERTAIN FINANCIAL ISSUES PERTAINING TO
THE 2003 MERGER BETWEEN THE AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE
AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM




AUTRY WESTERN HERITAGE MUSEUM

Cash (non interest bearing)
Savings Accounts

Accounts Receivable

Grants Receivable
Inventories

Prepaid Expenses
Investments--Corporate Stock
Investments--Other

Total Liquid Assets
Accounts Payable

NET LIQUID WORTH

Unadjusted Revenue
Pledge
Total Revenue

Unadjusted Expenses
Depreciation

Total Expenses

OPERATING CASH FLOW

1999

$621,741
$625,505
$201,094
$0
$546,793
$182,547
$1,799,555
$496,046

$4,473,281
$494,046

$3,979,235

$11,939,348
$0
$11,939,348

$9,657,868
-$1,041,915
$8,615,953

$3,323,395

2000 2001
$1,976,375 $1,011,706
$230,037 $194,407
$62,218 $41,346
$127,786 $188,044
$437,582 $475,523
$94,436 $137,054
$786,412 $1,452,876
$0 $0
$3,714,846 $3,500,956
$648.046 $570.697
$3,066.800 $2,930,259
$107,842,641 $9,681,114
-$97,570,670 $0
$10,271,971 $9,681,114
$11,226,114 $10,545,023
-$1,032,691 -$1,040,345
$10,193,423 $9,504,678
$78,548 $176,436

2002

$1,610,884
$292,634
$34,117
$108,407
$523,657
$246,293
$1,804,493
$0
$4,620,485

$869,337

$3,751,148

$11,517,895
$0
$11,517,895

$10,359,283
-$1,066,721
$9,292,562

$2,225,333



SOUTHWEST MUSEUM

Cash (non interest bearing)
Savings Accounts
Accounts Receivable
Grants Receivable
Inventories

Prepaid Expenses
Investments--Securities
Investments--Other

Total Liquid Assets

Accounts Payable

NET LIQUID ASSETS

Unadjusted Revenue
Total Revenue

Unadjusted Expenses
Depreciation
Total Expenses

OPERATING CASH FLOW

30-Jun-99 30-Jun-00
-$1 $12,618
$366,696 $33,347
$0 $0
$98,799 $35,743
$267,403 $251,066
$62,910 $57,418
$5,235,344 $4,683,937
$69,258 $40,313
$6,100,409 $5,114,442
$133,542 $181,760
$5,966,867 $4,932,682
$1,878,748 $1,250,586
$1,878,748 $1,250,586
$2,334,326 $2,633,476
-$302,852 -$359,517
$2,031,474 $2,273,959
-$152,726 -$1,023,373

30-Jun-01 30-Jun-02
$600 $600
$881,198 $1,249,721
$0 $0
$512,889 $205,008
$221,090 $217,090
$59,503 $68,453
$4,216,744 $3,910,920
$38,274 $33,129
$5,930,298 $5,684,921
$135,976 $52,807
$5,794,322 $5,632,114
$2,551,718 $1,667,630
$2,551,718 $1,667,630
$1,824,288 $1,711,058
-$271,040 -$118,215
$1,553,248 $1,592,843
$998,470 $74,787

30-Jun-03

$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0

18

$534,321
$534,321

$1,431,861
-$133,496
$1,298,365

-$764,044



EXHIBIT L

AUTRY MUSEUM OPERATING RESULTS
A REPORT ADDRESSING CERTAIN FINANCIAL ISSUES PERTAINING TO
THE 2003 MERGER BETWEEN THE AUTRY MUSEUM OF WESTERN HERITAGE
AND THE SOUTHWEST MUSEUM




2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Autry Museum Gross $107,371,809 $9,681,114 $11,517,895 $12,541,425 $19,407,519 $19,163,696 $17,658,106
Revenues
Adjustment for Pledge ($97,222,712)
Autry Museum Net $10,149,097 $9,681,114 $11,517,895 $12,541,425 $19,407,519 $19,163,696 $17,658,106
Revenue
Autry Museum Expenses $10,755,281 $10,545,023 $10,359,283 $13,171,861 $15,450,377 $17,007,039 $17,542,398
Autry Museum Net ($606,184) ($863,909) $1,158,612 ($630,436) $3,957,142 $2,156,657 $115,708
Income
Autry Museum Annual $6,000,000 $6,000,000 $6,050,000 $6,050,000 $6,050,000 $6,050,000 $6,050,000
Annuity (Assumed to be (Assumed to be | (Assumed to be (Assumed to be (Assumed to (Assumed to (Assumed to be
included in the included in the included in the included in the be included in | be included in | included in the
Gross and Net Gross and Net Gross and Net Gross and Net the Grossand | the Grossand | Gross and Net
Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Net Revenue Net Revenue Revenue
numbers)® numbers)®® numbers) numbers) numbers) numbers) numbers)
Statement of Cash Statements Not Statements Not Statements Not Statements Not ($3,135,373) $584,062 ($6,472,228)
Flows—Cash Provided Readily Available Readily Readily Available | Readily Available
by or (Used in) Available
Operations

8 This is probably not a good assumption for 2000. The Autry Museum’s Form 990-PF reports that Mrs. Autry donated $1,704,684 and the Autry Foundation
donated $710,684 to the Autry Museum. It also reports that the Autry Foundation donated an additional $97,222,712 to the Autry Museum. Although | have no
way of knowing for sure, | suspect that the $1,704,684 and $710,684 are contributions of cash and marketable securities, while the $97,222,712 number reflects
the Pledge. This conclusion is supported by the $97,840,178 entry on Line 4b of Part Il of the Form 990-PF.

% The Schedule B to the Autry Museum’s Form 990 redacts the name of contributors, as is permitted. This means that | am unable to confirm the amount of
Mrs. Autry’s contributions to the Autry Museum.





